Health Consultation

Public Comment Version

Evaluation of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Private Wells near the Saint Gobain Performance Plastics Site in Southern New Hampshire

SAINT GOBAIN PERFORMANCE PLASTICS

MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE

EPA FACILITY ID: NHD982746778

DECEMBER 15, 2021

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD ENDS: MARCH 1, 2022

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry Office of Community Health and Hazard Assessment Atlanta, Georgia 30333

Health Consultation: A Note of Explanation

An ATSDR health consultation is a verbal or written response from ATSDR to a specific request for information about health risks related to a specific site, a chemical release, or the presence of hazardous material. In order to prevent or mitigate exposures, a consultation may lead to specific actions, such as restricting use of or replacing water supplies; intensifying environmental sampling; restricting site access; or removing the contaminated material.

In addition, consultations may recommend additional public health actions, such as conducting health surveillance activities to evaluate exposure or trends in adverse health outcomes; conducting biological indicators of exposure studies to assess exposure; and providing health education for health care providers and community members. This concludes the health consultation process for this site, unless additional information is obtained by ATSDR which, in the Agency's opinion, indicates a need to revise or append the conclusions previously issued.

Please address comments regarding this report to:

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry Attn: Records Center 4770 Buford Highway N.E., MS S-102-2 Chamblee, Georgia 30341

You may contact ATSDR toll free at 1-800-CDC-INFO or visit our home page at: https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov Saint Gobain Performance Plastics

Public Comment Release

HEALTH CONSULTATION

Evaluation of Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl Substance (PFAS) in Private Wells near the Saint Gobain Performance Plastics Site in Southern New Hampshire

SAINT GOBAIN PERFORMANCE PLASTICS MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE EPA FACILITY ID: NHD982746778

Prepared by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry Office of Community Health and Hazard Assessment Atlanta, Georgia 30333

Summary

Introduction

The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) evaluates community exposures and makes recommendations to prevent harmful exposures to hazardous substances in the environment. This report evaluates past and current exposures to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in private drinking water wells in five towns near the Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics facility in Merrimack, New Hampshire.

The Saint-Gobain facility's processes used several PFAS, including perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). In 2016, PFOA was found in groundwater near the site. Since then, the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NH DES) has led sampling of public water systems and private wells in five towns surrounding the Saint-Gobain facility: Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester. Since the discovery of the contamination, state and local officials have taken several actions to reduce exposures, including treating public water supplies and providing alternate or treated water to affected private well owners.

NH DES and the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services (NH DHHS) asked ATSDR to do this evaluation. ATSDR staff have been working with the state since 2016 to provide health information to the public regarding PFAS exposure. The state provided ATSDR data from public and private water supplies in 2019. ATSDR will release a separate report evaluating data from public water supplies in the area.

Conclusions of ATSDR's Evaluation

ATSDR estimated exposure to PFAS and the resulting potential risk of harmful health effects from drinking well water for over 2,700 private wells in the area. We reached the following general conclusions.

Conclusion 1

Before actions began in 2016 to reduce exposures, drinking private well water contaminated with PFAS could have increased the risk for harmful health effects for some community members.

Basis for Conclusion

• Most of the private wells evaluated in the five towns of Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester were contaminated with PFAS. PFOA was

detected most frequently and at the highest concentrations. Based on ATSDR's evaluation of both individual PFAS and PFAS mixture effects detailed in this report, more than 230 out of 2,745 wells had PFAS at levels that could harm infants or young children, and about 9% of those wells had levels that could harm all age groups. Developmental effects are the most likely possible health effects from exposure, and the risk of developmental effects would increase as PFAS levels and exposure increased. Immune or liver effects would also be possible from exposure to the highest PFAS levels. Other sources of PFAS exposure (such as from food or consumer products) could increase the risk of harmful health effects beyond the risk from the drinking water exposures alone.

- The remaining wells, with lower or no detections of PFAS, are not expected to have harmed health. However, this conclusion is uncertain. Many wells were sampled only once, and the actual PFAS levels could have fluctuated over time. Also, knowledge about health effects of the PFAS evaluated is still evolving, and many wells contained other PFAS which have not been studied enough to evaluate the potential for health effects.
- The increased risk of developing cancer from exposure to PFAS in the area is uncertain. There is suggestive evidence that both PFOA and PFOS are carcinogenic, but the science on PFOA, PFOS, and other PFAS is too limited at this time to quantify risk.

Next Steps

- Private well owners who had potentially harmful exposures in the past should discuss their exposure with their health care provider and consider taking steps to reduce other potential PFAS exposures, such as those from consumer products containing PFAS.
- Residents should reduce exposure from background sources of PFAS by avoiding or limiting the use of products containing PFAS. Examples of products that may contain PFAS include food packing materials, stain resistant carpets, water resistant clothing, cleaning products, and some cosmetics.
- ATSDR recommends nursing mothers continue to breastfeed and contact their healthcare providers with specific concerns. ATSDR is available to consult with healthcare providers as needed. To help protect formula-fed infants from potential exposure, caregivers should use pre-mixed formula or reconstitute dry formula with water sources not containing PFAS.

ii

Conclusion 2

Currently, harmful exposures to PFAS in private wells have been minimized by providing alternate water and taking other actions. People who continue to drink contaminated, untreated private well water may still have an increased risk for harmful health effects.

Basis for Conclusion

• Since 2016, bottled water has been provided to residents whose private wells were affected by PFAS. More than 750 private wells in the area have been switched to treated public water or equipped with point-of-entry treatment systems which are regularly tested for treatment effectiveness. Some private wells with low levels of PFAS, or wells with no detections, may remain in use. Based on the current science, harmful health effects are unlikely if PFAS concentrations in those wells remain low. Residents drinking from private wells that were never tested, or who were offered but declined alternate water, may experience harmful health effects if they drink water with high PFAS concentrations.

Next Steps

- Residents using point-of-entry treatment systems to remove PFAS from private well water should have the systems maintained and checked periodically to ensure removal effectiveness.
- Residents continuing to drink from private wells should monitor their well water quality and should work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.
- ATSDR will work with NH DES and NH DHHS to identify any private wells with PFAS levels of concern that have not been addressed through previous actions.

ATSDR is available to discuss individual results with private well owners and will continue to be available, upon request, to answer other public health questions related to the site.

Table of Contents

Summary	. i
ATSDR and the topic of this report	1
Background and brief history of the site	1
How ATSDR became involved	3
Focus of this report	3
Stepwise discussion of ATSDR's evaluation of private well data	4
Environmental sampling data handling Determining the timeframe of potential exposure Screening and summarizing the data Estimating PFAS exposure doses; comparison with health guidelines Noncancer health effects from exposure to PFAS	4 5 9 1 2 2 4
PFAS levels in blood: U.S. population versus private well users near this site	25
Health considerations for susceptible populations 2	26
Conclusions 2	28
Recommendations 2	29
ATSDR site team	29
References 2	29
Appendix A. Full names and chemical information for PFAS in reportA-	-1
Appendix B. ATSDR evaluation process and detailsB-	-1
Exposure pathway analysis	-1 -2 -2 -3

Figures in text

Figure 1. Location of the Saint-Gobain facility in relationship to the five surrounding towns for	
which private well data were evaluated	2
Figure 2. Frequency of PFAS Detection in Private Wells Near the Saint-Gobain Site in Merrimach	ζ,
New Hampshire	9

Figure 3. Distribution of private wells near the Saint-Gobain site in Merrimack, NH with other	
PFAS that could not be evaluated quantitatively through mixtures framework 2	21
Figure 4. How age group and water consumption affect estimated dose at a set contaminant	
concentration 2	22
(0.1 micrograms per liter example) 2	22
Figure 5. Distribution of private wells of concern for potential harmful health effects near the	
Saint-Gobain site in Merrimack, NH 2	23
Figure 6. U.S. population's average* blood serum PFAS levels over time, as measured through	
the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2	25
Figure B 1. Selected data from private wells from New Hampshire database, illustrating Tier 1	
and Tier 2 mixtures evaluationB-	-9

Tables in text

Table 1. Summary of PFAS detected in private well sampling near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack,
NH facility, 2016-2021 listed in order of decreasing frequency of detection – see Appendix A for
full compound names and chemical information7
Table 2. Summary of highest estimated doses of PFAS (compared to health guidelines) for
people drinking from private wells near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, NH facility 10
Table 3. Tier 1 (hazard quotient) analysis of PFAS in private wells 19
near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, NH facility19
Table 4. ATSDR summary of NH private well users' 2016-2017 PFAS blood testing results
compared to U.S. population data
Table A1. Full names, chemical formulae, and Chemical Abstract Services Registry numbers for
compounds included in the data provided to ATSDR by NH DES (listed in order of increasing
total number of carbon atoms, detected substances shown in bold)A-1
Table B 1. Assumed body weights and drinking water consumption for private well users in five
towns near the Saint-Gobain facility in Merrimack, New Hampshire [9,10]B-3
Table B 2. Doses for age groups with different water consumption exposed to the highest
concentrations measured in private wells compared to corresponding health guidelines B-6
Table B 3. Tier 1 mixtures analysis summary for private wells near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack,
New Hampshire facilityB-8

ATSDR and the topic of this report

The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry's (ATSDR) mission is to serve the public though responsive public health actions; to promote healthy and safe environments; and prevent harmful human exposures. This health consultation provides an evaluation of the public health implications of past and current exposures to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in private drinking water wells in five towns near the Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics facility in Merrimack, New Hampshire. The report includes recommendations to protect public health. ATSDR worked with the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services (NH DHHS) and the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NH DES) in preparing this report.

Background and brief history of the site

The Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics facility in Merrimack, New Hampshire produces specialty coated fabrics and films for a range of industrial applications, such as heavy-duty roofing fabrics and hazardous materials-resistant clothing. In 2001, Saint-Gobain took over the operations of the Chemical Performance Fabrics (ChemFab) company, which had operated since the late 1980s. The manufacturing process uses several PFAS, including perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). Figure 1 shows the facility's location and the area evaluated in this health consultation.

In 2016, after PFOA groundwater contamination had been discovered at similar facilities in the U.S., the Merrimack Saint-Gobain facility voluntarily conducted water testing and identified PFOA present in public water-supplied tap water at the plant. Since 2016, NH DES has led efforts to conduct sampling of public water systems and private wells in five towns surrounding the Saint-Gobain facility: Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester. Saint-Gobain is responsible for sampling within an "Outer Boundary" determined by a 2018 consent decree with NH DES [1].¹ NH DES reviews data from areas outside the Outer Boundary and may conduct additional sampling, if needed [2].

Since the discovery of the contamination, local actions have reduced exposures to PFAS in drinking water. Public water supplies within the Outer Boundary are treated to remove PFAS. People using private wells found to exceed state health-based drinking water standards² were offered bottled water, connection to the public water supply, or installation of a treatment system to remove PFAS. Hundreds of properties supplied with water from private wells have been connected to local municipal water systems or provided treatment systems [1,2,4].

¹ The Outer Boundary as indicated on Figure 1 includes a portion of the town of Hudson, NH. At the time of the original request to ATSDR, no samples had been collected from private wells in Hudson, and it is not included in the evaluation. The general conclusions and recommendations in this report would apply to private wells in other towns, depending on the PFAS levels found.

² From 2016 until 2020, New Hampshire's drinking water standard was 0.07 micrograms per liter for PFOA, PFOS, or a combination of the two chemicals. This value is identical to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA's) lifetime health advisory for PFOA and/or PFOS [3]. In September 2019, the state adopted new rules with lower limits for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA; these rules were enacted via legislation in July 2020.

Figure 1. Location of the Saint-Gobain facility in relationship to the five surrounding towns for which private well data were evaluated



PRJ ID 05772 | AUTHOR: L. Hic

How ATSDR became involved

In 2016, NH DHHS and NH DES requested assistance from ATSDR in helping assess and respond to potential health impacts from exposure to PFAS in drinking water in the area surrounding the facility [5]. Since then, ATSDR staff have been working with the state to provide health information to the public regarding PFAS exposure. The state also requested ATSDR develop health consultation reports evaluating data from public and private water supplies; these data have recently become available to ATSDR. ATSDR will produce two health consultation reports. This report focuses on private well data. A separate report will evaluate data from public water supplies in the area.

Focus of this report

This health consultation focuses on evaluating the potential impacts of exposure to PFAS in drinking water from private wells in five New Hampshire towns surrounding the Saint-Gobain site: Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester. NH DES requested private well data from the five towns be included in the private well evaluation [6]. There are other potential sources of PFAS in this general area, and PFAS detected in private wells may not originate from the Saint-Gobain facility. This health consultation makes no attempt to attribute PFAS contamination to the facility or any other source.

For evaluating PFAS exposures from private wells, ATSDR considered only the drinking (ingestion) exposure route and did not include breathing (inhalation) or skin contact (dermal) contributions to exposure. PFAS do not easily evaporate from water during bathing and showering, and absorption of PFAS through skin is slow or limited [7]. Therefore, inhalation or skin exposures from private well water will be negligible compared to ingestion exposures.

The data ATSDR obtained from NH DES included PFAS sample results only. We did not have data on any other types of potential contamination in the wells such as chemicals other than PFAS, biological contamination, or other physical indicators that may affect the suitability of the water for human consumption.

NH DES asked ATSDR to comment on potential health effects resulting from drinking water exposures to PFAS. No data describing PFAS levels in other environmental media besides drinking water near the site were available to us. This document does not include consideration of any other potential past, present, or future exposures, including

- Inhalation exposure to PFAS released into the air from the facility;
- Direct contact or incidental ingestion exposure to PFAS in soil, surface water, or sediment;
- Indirect ingestion of PFAS in biota (fish, shellfish, or plants) that may have bioaccumulated PFAS from their local environment; or
- Exposure to PFAS from consumer products in the home or community.

More details on ATSDR's analysis of exposures possible at this site can be found in Appendix B.

Stepwise discussion of ATSDR's evaluation of private well data Environmental sampling data handling

In October 2019, NH DES provided ATSDR with private well PFAS sampling results extracted from the database of PFAS sampling results reported to the state [8]. In April 2021, NH DES provided an updated spreadsheet containing newer results and additional PFAS component results [9]. The complete results comprise over 4,000 private well sample results from almost 2,750 different addresses in five towns. The spreadsheet included results collected between March 2016 and April 2021 and contained 56 different PFAS results fields. Different laboratories and sampling events analyzed different PFAS and often used different reporting conventions for results.

To organize, tabulate, and summarize these data for our public health evaluation, ATSDR performed the following actions on the data provided by NH DES.

- As a fundamental assumption, ATSDR assumed that all sample results associated with a particular address described water from a single private well. We believe this (one well per address) to be largely correct; however, we could not verify it in all instances because some sample descriptors in the very large database were vague, incomplete, or inconsistent. This assumption is appropriate for our goal of gaining a general evaluation of the implications of PFAS in private wells in the area.
- ATSDR manually corrected address spacing issues and standardized abbreviations for street names to allow correct sorting of results by address in the database.
- Some laboratories reported certain PFAS using different conventions (some reported them as acids, and others reported the same substance as a dissociated salt, or anion). For sulfonate anion/sulfonic acid pairs, either reporting convention would result in a value that is practically equivalent (differing by the weight of a single hydrogen atom). For these PFAS, ATSDR considered values by either convention as equivalent. This practice is consistent with technical guidance developed by the Interstate Technical and Regulatory Council (ITRC) [10].
- ATSDR dropped from consideration PFAS listed in the database which were not analyzed, or which had no detections³.
- The above considerations reduced the number of PFAS to be evaluated to 25.
- About 11% of the results included field replicates or samples from more than one location (tap, outside spigot, etc.) at the same address on the same date. ATSDR followed standard practice and averaged results of field replicate samples. Also, as stated above, ATSDR considered all samples from a particular address to represent a single private well, and (if sampled on a single day) considered them as replicates. ATSDR applied a single latitude-longitude to all replicate samples from the address, since we only needed a general sense of the location of the private well for our evaluation.

³ PFAS listed in the database which contained no analysis results were 1-Propene-1,1,2,3,3,3-hexafluoro-, dimer; perfluorobutylsulfonamide; and perfluorohexanesulfonamide.. PFAS which were reported as analyzed at least once but had no detections reported in any well include 11-chloroeicosafluoro-3-oxaundecane-1-sulfonic acid; 9- chlorohexadecafluoro-3-oxanone-1-sulfonic acid; PFODA; PFHpS Sulfonate; Perfluoro-3-methoxypropanoic acid; Perfluoro(4-methoxybutanoic) acid; PFHxDA; ETFOSE; PFDoDS; PFNS; 10:2 FTSA; EtFOSA; MeFOSA; MeFOSE; GenX (Acid or Salt); DONA; and ADONA. Please see Appendix A for full compound names, chemical formulae, and Chemical Abstract Services Registry numbers.

• About 18% of the private wells had results from multiple sampling dates. For these wells, ATSDR selected the highest concentration of each PFAS detected for screening, preparing summary tables, and estimating exposure dose. The highest concentration is used because exposures to PFAS may have harmful health effects over relatively short periods of exposure (weeks to months); using a long-term average concentration could underestimate potentially harmful exposures.

The resulting dataset included results for up to 25 PFAS detected in water from 2,745 different private wells in the five-town area of Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester.

Determining the timeframe of potential exposure

Production at the facility currently operating as Saint-Gobain began in 1986. We do not have any historical data showing levels of PFAS in groundwater or private wells. We assume past exposure to PFAS from private wells could have occurred continuously, beginning a short time after the facility began operating. This is a conservative assumption made because of the lack of historical data showing when the wells were actually contaminated. The levels and composition of PFAS in groundwater and private wells likely varied over the years and could be higher or lower than those measured in recent sampling. The available data from 2016 to 2021 best represent more recent exposures.

After discovery of the PFAS contamination, Saint-Gobain and local authorities acted to protect people whose drinking water contained PFAS. Affected neighborhoods were eligible for free bottled water, and over 750 affected homes were offered connection to treated municipal water or their wells fitted with point-of-entry treatment systems. Water line extension projects were completed in 2020. For residents who are now drinking treated water, PFAS exposure may have occurred in the past, but exposure to PFAS above screening levels from drinking water is no longer occurring.

Some private well owners may have declined well water testing, and some who were eligible for connection to municipal water or a point-of-entry treatment system declined the offer. Ongoing testing has identified additional affected private wells in the area.⁴ These residents may have ongoing exposure to PFAS as well as past exposures. Current or future residents who drink from an untreated, contaminated private well will continue to be exposed.

Screening and summarizing the data

The next step in ATSDR's evaluation process is to screen the well water contaminant data against health-based, chemical-specific comparison values (CVs). This step allows ATSDR to focus attention on wells and contaminants of most potential concern by eliminating from further consideration those that are unlikely to result in harmful exposures. The CVs used in this report are concentrations of chemicals in drinking water below which no harmful health effects are expected to occur, even with continual exposure of small children and infants. CVs are not regulatory clean up values, and concentrations higher than the corresponding CV do not necessarily result in harm. ATSDR evaluates contaminants detected at concentrations above a

⁴ Other sources beside Saint-Gobain exist in the area; ATSDR makes no source attribution in this report.

CV further in ATSDR's process. ATSDR has derived CVs called environmental media evaluation guides, or EMEGs, for four PFAS: PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA.

As of the date of this report, ATSDR has not derived CVs for other PFAS. However, several U.S. states and international organizations have developed health-based drinking water guidance or screening values for other PFAS.⁵ ATSDR considered these values, when available, while evaluating PFAS for which no ATSDR CV was available. These substances are discussed qualitatively later in this report, in the section entitled "Other PFAS present in wells" beginning on page 16. Some state health-based values for other PFAS may not be included on Table 1 for various reasons (for example, if they were extrapolated from studies on a different PFAS or were not specifically developed for drinking water). Those PFAS without CVs that were detected frequently and at levels higher than the lowest PFAS CV available (0.014 g/L for PFOS) were retained and evaluated qualitatively later in the report.

Table 1 summarizes the detections and compares the highest concentrations of each PFAS detected with its corresponding CV, if available. PFAS are listed in the table in order of decreasing frequency of detection; PFOA was detected most frequently, in 91% of the wells tested. Of the PFAS with CVs available,

- PFOA and PFOS were detected above their corresponding CVs the most frequently (in 30% and 3% of the private wells, respectively);
- PFHxS and PFNA were detected above their corresponding CVs in only one well each; and
- PFBA and PFBS were not detected above health-based state screening values in any well.

ATSDR has not derived or fully reviewed other states' substance-specific, health-based CVs at this time. For this evaluation, we discuss results and possible health effects for all PFAS detected frequently and at higher levels that the lowest PFAS CV available.

⁵ Standards and guidance values for PFAS are changing rapidly; values in this report are from the Interstate Technology and Regulatory Council's (ITRC's) May 2021 tables [11].

Table 1. Summary of PFAS detected in private well sampling near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, NH facility, 2016-2021 listed in order of decreasing frequency of detection – see Appendix A for full compound names and chemical information

PFAS*	# of wells with detections / # tested (%)	Maximum [†] concentration (μg/L)	PFAS-specific comparison value (CV) [‡] (µg/L)	CV source [‡]	# / % of wells with results above CV
PFOA	2,498 / 2,745 (91%)	1.6	0.021	ATSDR intermediate child EMEG‡	825 / 30%
PFHxA [€]	1,905 / 2,509 (76%)	0.42	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFPeA [€]	1,682 / 2,494 (67%)	0.23	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFHpA [€]	1,819 / 2,740 (66%)	0.42	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFBS	1,578 / 2,739 (58%)	0.14	1	Michigan screening level	0 / 0%
PFOS	1,445 / 2,745 (53%)	0.12	0.014	ATSDR intermediate child EMEG‡	71 / 3%
PFHxS	1,424 / 2,742 (52%)	0.24	0.14	ATSDR intermediate child EMEG‡	1 / 0%
PFBA	1,180 / 2,455 (48%)	0.14	7	Minnesota chronic noncancer health risk limit	0 / 0%
PFPeS	176 / 839 (21%)	0.012	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFNA	288 / 2,742 (11%)	0.085	0.021	ATSDR intermediate child EMEG‡	1 / 0%
4:2 FTSA	42 / 831 (5%)	0.0035	none	No CV available§	n/a
6:2 FTSA [€]	51 / 1,750 (3%)	0.57	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFDA	57 / 2,429 (2%)	0.0058	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFHpS	37 / 1,750 (2%)	0.0094	none	No CV available§	n/a
FOSA [€]	18 / 1,170 (2%)	0.059	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFTeDA	25 / 1,890 (1%)	0.0040	none	No CV available§	n/a
Perfluoro-3,6-dioxaheptanoic acid	7 / 615 (1%)	0.00098	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFTrDA	12 / 1,890 (0.6%)	0.0065	none	No CV available§	n/a
EtFOSAA	5 / 994 (0.5%)	0.0028	none	No CV available§	n/a
Perfluoro(2-ethoxyethane)sulfonic acid	2 / 615 (0.3%)	0.00067	none	No CV available§	
PFDoDA	7 / 2,429 (0.3%)	0.0074	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFUnDA	7 / 2,429 (0.3%)	0.0048	none	No CV available§	n/a
8:2 FTSA [€]	4 / 1,750 (0.2%)	0.044	none	No CV available§	n/a

Saint-Gobain Site – New Hamp	Health Cons	ultation - Public C	Comment		
PFAS*	# of wells with detections / # tested (%)	Maximum [†] concentration (μg/L)	PFAS-specific comparison value (CV)‡ (μg/L)	CV source [‡]	# / % of wells with results above CV
MeFOSAA	2 / 1,055 (0.2%)	0.0017	none	No CV available§	n/a
PFDS	1 / 1,287 (0.1%)	0.002	none	No CV available§	n/a
# - number	µg/L – micrograms per liter	CV – compariso	n value	n/a – not applicable	

- number μ g/L – micrograms per liter n/a - not applicable

*See Appendix A for full compound names and chemical information.

Shaded cells indicate PFAS that exceeded the corresponding comparison value.

[†]Field replicates collected on the same sample date were averaged to obtain a single result. ATSDR considered all samples from a particular address to represent a single private well, and (if sampled on a single day) considered them as replicates. Thus, maximum concentration refers to the highest concentration representing any of the 2,745 private wells and could itself be an average of more than one result collected from that well on a single day. *EMEG = Environmental Media Evaluation Guide (developed from ATSDR intermediate minimal risk level). If no ATSDR CV is available, CVs from other sources may be used. As new studies become available, CVs can change. Please see Appendix B for more information about comparison values used in this evaluation. [§]No substance-specific, health-based drinking water screening value was identified. Those substances detected more frequently and at concentrations higher than the lowest PFAS CV available (0.014 μ g/L for PFOS) are evaluated qualitatively.

[€]Substance evaluated qualitatively.

The PFAS detected in private wells varied in composition as well as concentration. As Figure 2 illustrates, PFOA was the most frequently detected PFAS in the private wells. However, in over three-fourths of the wells, one or more other PFAS were also detected. Private wells with multiple PFAS detected contained between 2 and 13 different PFAS.



Figure 2. Frequency of PFAS Detection in Private Wells Near the Saint-Gobain Site in Merrimack, New Hampshire

PFOA was the most frequently detected PFAS in 2,745 private wells in the five towns surrounding the Saint-Gobain site in Merrimack, New Hampshire. Many wells showed detections of other PFAS.

Because multiple PFAS were present in many wells, we considered the potential for health effects from exposure to mixtures as well as individual PFAS. Further details are presented below.

Estimating PFAS exposure doses; comparison with health guidelines

The next step of ATSDR's process is to estimate exposure doses for each contaminant. Exposure dose is the amount of contaminant that could get in a person's body for a specified situation. The estimated dose is expressed on a body weight basis (in amount of contaminant per kilogram of body weight per day) to allow comparison with relevant health guidelines presented in the same units.

Appendix B details how we estimated exposure doses in this report. We used ATSDR standard guidance to estimate exposure doses for age groups ranging from birth through adulthood and who consumed water at rates ranging from typical (i.e., average) to high-end (i.e., 95th percentile) for each age group [12,13]. We assumed daily consumption of water containing the highest contaminant concentration measured in each well. We estimated exposure doses on a well-by-well basis. Further details, example calculations, and a summary of results are in Appendix B.

Health guidelines used in this report are ATSDR *minimal risk levels* (MRLs) or *reference doses* developed by other organizations. MRLs and reference doses represent a dose of a single contaminant that is unlikely to result in harmful health effects, to even the most sensitive groups, over the timeframe of exposure. Doses less than the MRL or reference dose are unlikely to result in harmful noncancer effects, while higher doses are evaluated more thoroughly to determine whether harmful health effects are possible.

ATSDR has derived intermediate oral MRLs for four PFAS: PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA [7]. These oral MRLs are based on different studies in which animals were exposed to the substance for between 2 weeks and one year–considered an intermediate duration. ATSDR uses these intermediate oral MRLs to evaluate chronic exposures lasting longer than one year, as well [7]. State health agencies have developed chronic reference doses for two other PFAS: PFBA and PFBS [14,15]. A summary of the derivation of these health guidelines is included in Appendix B.

For the drinking water exposures evaluated in this report, the highest estimated doses are for children from birth to one year old who drink high-end amounts of water (that is, more water than 95% of their age group). Table 2 presents the highest exposure doses estimated for those PFAS with health guidelines available. Because the drinking water CVs used for screening earlier in this report are developed from health guidelines using assumptions for this same sensitive group (children from birth to one year old who drink high-end amounts of water), the summary in Table 2 shows similar results as in Table 1. Calculating the doses is needed, however, for further evaluation of the potential exposures for all age groups and drinking water consumption patterns, as will be discussed later.

As shown in Table 2, hundreds of private wells had estimated doses of PFOA higher than the MRL. A smaller number of wells had estimated PFOS doses exceeding its MRL, and very few of the wells had any PFHxS, PFNA, PFBA, or PFBS doses exceeding their respective health guidelines.

The next section discusses general health implications of PFAS exposure and how ATSDR uses information from human epidemiology and animal toxicology studies in evaluating impacts from PFAS exposures on community's health. Immediately following this section, we discuss implications from exposures to individual PFAS detected in the private wells at this site. In the "PFAS mixtures evaluation" section beginning on page 18, we consider the possibility for health effects from exposures to mixtures of PFAS in private wells.

PFAS*	Highest estimated dose in any well [†] , µg/kg/day	Health guideline, μg/kg/day	Health guideline	# of wells with dose exceeding health guideline [‡]
PFOA	0.230	0.003	ATSDR intermediate MRL	825
PFOS	0.017	0.002	ATSDR intermediate MRL	71
PFHxS	0.034	0.020	ATSDR intermediate MRL	1
PFNA	0.012	0.003	ATSDR intermediate MRL	1
PFBA	0.020	2.9	Minnesota chronic reference dose [14]	0
PFBS	0.020	2.3	Michigan oral reference dose [15]	0

Table 2. Summary of highest estimated doses of PFAS (compared to health guidelines) for people drinking from private wells near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, NH facility

µg/kg/day = micrograms per kilogram body weight per day *See Appendix A for full compound names and chemical information. MRL = minimal risk level # - number

⁺Highest dose is for children from birth up to one year old who drink high-end (95th percentile) amounts of water every day. Doses are generally lower for those who drink less water or who weigh more and thus have a lower dose per body weight. See Appendix B for assumptions and a more detailed summary.

^{*}highest estimated dose (birth up to one-year-old age group with high-end drinking water consumption) exceeds MRL.

Noncancer health effects from exposure to PFAS

Numerous human epidemiology studies have examined associations between various harmful health effects and serum levels of PFAS in exposed workers, residents exposed to high levels of PFAS released by facilities, and people exposed to background levels of PFAS. The weight of evidence suggests links between PFAS exposure and several harmful health effects in humans, including increased cholesterol levels, changes in liver enzymes, decreased vaccine response in children, increased risk of high blood pressure or pre-eclampsia in pregnant women, and small decreases in infant birth weight [7,16,17].

The human epidemiology studies are valuable in identifying potential hazards associated with PFAS exposure; however, most of them were not designed to show causality, and there were some inconsistencies in findings across the studies. In addition, most studies did not adequately characterize the environmental exposure levels and routes of exposure that produced the observed effects, and most studies involved potential exposures to multiple PFAS at once [7,16]. For these reasons, ATSDR relies on experimental toxicology studies on animals, which have greater ability to control and measure exposures and examine specific biological mechanisms, as the primary basis for evaluating health risks related to PFAS exposure. This introduces uncertainty, because humans and other species process PFAS differently. Rather than using simple dose extrapolation, the nominal doses to which animals are exposed should be converted, whenever possible, to *human equivalent doses* to relate animal toxicity data to possible effects in humans.

The primary noncancer effects observed in toxicological studies on animals exposed to PFAS include developmental toxicity, immune toxicity, and liver toxicity [7,18,19].⁶ Other effects, typically observed at higher doses, include weight loss and changes in the microscopic structure of reproductive tissues or the thyroid gland. Not all of these effects were seen across all PFAS tested, and effect levels varied. However, in general, the sensitive targets of toxicity identified in laboratory animals are similar to those observed in human epidemiology studies [7].

Individual PFAS exposure evaluation

PFOA

PFOA was present in over 90% of the private wells; concentrations ranged from non-detect to $1.6 \mu g/L$. Drinking the most-highly contaminated water would result in doses ranging from about 0.05 to $0.20 \mu g/kg/day$ for various age groups with high-end water consumption rates. These doses greatly exceed the corresponding MRL for PFOA of $0.003 \mu g/kg/day$. Age groups with typical water consumption rather than high consumption would have doses about a third to a half as high, but still exceeding the MRL for the highest PFOA concentrations. The toxicology literature has identified several potential health effects from PFOA exposures. A brief summary of the PFOA-specific developmental, immune, and liver effects considered the primary effects observed in animals exposed to PFAS is presented below.

- **Developmental effects.** Skeletal changes and increased activity levels were observed in offspring of mice fed PFOA during pregnancy [7,20,21]. These effects occurred at a human equivalent dose of 0.82 µg/kg/day. The study showing skeletal changes is the basis for ATSDR's intermediate MRL.
- **Immune effects.** A lowered antibody response to applied antigens was observed in mice exposed to PFOA in drinking water [22,23]. This effect occurred at a human equivalent dose of 3.3 µg/kg/day.
- Liver effects. Studies on monkeys and rodents have reported signs of liver damage following exposure to PFOA [24–28]. Not all rodent liver effects are considered relevant to humans, and not all studies contain enough information to calculate human equivalent doses [7]. The lowest-effect human equivalent doses for liver effects that could be calculated and appear to be relevant to humans range from about 4 to 20 µg/kg/day in rodent and monkey studies [26–28].

Other sensitive effects, such as changes in mammary gland development observed in mice exposed to low levels of PFOA, have been observed [29]. The biological significance of the finding is uncertain (the changes did not appear to harm milk production or survival of the offspring), and ATSDR has not evaluated the quantitative potential for such effects [7].

The estimated doses for the highest PFOA concentrations approach effect levels determined in toxicology studies. Drinking from the wells with the highest PFOA concentrations could increase

⁶ Not all liver effects observed in rodent studies are considered relevant for humans. ATSDR generally uses the criteria published by Hall et al. in 2012, which is based on an expert panel workshop convened by the European Society of Toxicological Pathology, to discern human toxicological relevance of liver effects observed in rodent studies [19].

the risk of developmental, immune, or liver effects in all age groups. An increased risk of developmental effects might be observed at doses greater than about $0.01 \,\mu g/kg/day$. For the most sensitive group (children between birth and one year old with high-end water consumption), this dose would correspond to drinking private well water containing greater than approximately 0.07 $\mu g/L$ of PFOA. As PFOA concentrations increase, the risk of developmental, immune, or liver effects increases. Approximately 200 of the properties with private wells had PFOA concentrations at or above this level. In addition, mixtures effects may have contributed to risk: most of the wells with PFOA had other PFAS detected as well.

Many homes with private wells, including all those with PFOA (or PFOA plus PFOS) concentrations greater than 0.07 μ g/L, have been provided alternate water and connection to a public water source or point-of-entry treatment systems. These actions would have halted known current harmful exposures; however, harmful exposures likely occurred in the past. Harmful exposures could still occur to residents who declined to be added to public water or a treatment system and are still drinking from an untreated contaminated well. Also, any wells that were not tested may have PFOA present at levels of concern. Homeowners using private wells should monitor their well water quality and work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.

PFOS

PFOS was present in about 53% of the private wells and at concentrations ranging from nondetect to 0.12 μ g/L. Drinking the most-highly contaminated water would result in doses ranging from about 0.004 to 0.02 μ g/kg/day for various age groups with high-end water consumption rates. These doses exceed the corresponding MRL for PFOS of 0.002 μ g/kg/day. Age groups with typical water consumption rather than high consumption would have doses about a third to a half as high, but still exceeding the MRL for some age groups at the highest PFOS concentrations. The toxicology literature has identified several potential health effects from PFOS exposures. A brief summary of the PFOS-specific developmental, immune, and liver effects considered the primary effects observed in animals exposed to PFAS is presented below.

- **Developmental effects.** Offspring of rats exposed to PFOS by gavage before mating, during gestation, and after giving birth showed delays in eye opening and a transient decrease in body weight [30,7]. These effects, which are the basis for ATSDR's intermediate MRL, occurred at a human equivalent dose of 2.1 µg/kg/day.
- Immune effects. Mice exposed to PFOS by gavage at a human equivalent dose of 0.031 µg/kg/day showed decreased resistance to influenza A virus infection [31]. In two reports from another study, mice exposed to a human equivalent dose of 0.41 µg/kg/day of PFOS by gavage had a decreased immune response to sheep red blood cells [32,33]. ATSDR believes that the immune effect level of concern from PFOS exposures lies somewhere between the human equivalent effect levels of these two studies.
- Liver effects. Monkeys exposed to PFOS were found to have increased liver weights and other hepatic changes at a human equivalent dose of $10 \mu g/kg/day$ [34].

Other sensitive effects, such as changes in glucose metabolism in mice fed a high-fat diet [35] or changes in levels of estradiol, a female reproductive hormone, in male monkeys [34], have been observed upon exposure of animals to low levels of PFOS. The biological significance of these changes is uncertain, and ATSDR has not evaluated the quantitative potential for such effects [7].

The estimated doses for the highest PFOS concentration are well below effect levels for developmental and liver effects; however, they approach possible effect levels for immune effects. The exact PFOS concentration that may increase the risk of immune effects is uncertain. However, it is likely that drinking from the wells with the highest PFOS concentrations increased the risk of immune effects in all age groups. In addition, mixtures effects may have contributed to risk: for almost all PFOS detections in private wells, PFOA or other PFAS were detected as well.

Many homes with private wells, including all those with PFOS (or PFOA plus PFOS) concentrations greater than 0.07 μ g/L, have been provided alternate water and connection to a public water source or point-of-entry treatment systems. These actions would have halted known current harmful exposures; however, harmful exposures likely occurred in the past. Harmful exposures could still occur to residents who declined to be added to public water or a treatment system and are still drinking from an untreated contaminated well. Also, any wells that were not tested may have PFOS present at levels of concern. Homeowners using private wells should monitor their well water quality and work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.

PFHxS

PFHxS was present in about 52% of the private wells and at concentrations ranging from nondetect to 0.24 μ g/L. Drinking the most-highly contaminated water would result in doses ranging from about 0.008 to 0.03 μ g/kg/day for various age groups with high-end water consumption rates. These doses approach and exceed the corresponding MRL for PFHxS of 0.02 μ g/kg/day. Age groups with typical water consumption rather than high consumption would have doses about a third to a half as high – doses that all fall below the MRL. The toxicology literature has identified health effects from PFHxS exposures, including

• **Thyroid effects**. Thyroid changes were observed in adult male rats exposed to PFHxS at a lowest-effect level corresponding to a human equivalent dose of 7.3 µg/kg/day [7,36,37]. This finding is the basis for ATSDR's intermediate MRL for PFHxS.

Few of the limited studies on PFHxS have shown an association between PFHxS exposure and developmental, immune, or liver effects considered the primary effects observed in animals exposed to PFAS. No developmental or reproductive effects were reported at any dose tested in the rat study that observed thyroid changes [7,36,37]. A few epidemiological studies have suggested that PFHxS exposure is associated with immune-related effects; however, findings are complicated by co-exposures of study subjects to additional PFAS, particularly PFOA and PFOS, and no toxicological studies on immune effects of PFHxS have been identified [7,38].

Finally, PFHxS exposure has been shown to cause liver effects in rats and mice, but ATSDR determined that the liver effects were not relevant to human exposure [7].

The estimated doses for the highest PFHxS concentration are orders of magnitude below the effect level for thyroid effects determined in toxicology studies. Exposure to PFHxS alone in private well water is unlikely to increase the risk of either thyroid effects or developmental, immune, or liver effects. Because PFHxS was almost always detected with one or more other PFAS, we evaluated the potential for PFHxS exposure to contribute to mixture effects.

Many homes with private wells, including those with the highest concentrations of PFHxS, have been provided alternate water and connection to a public water source or point-of-entry treatment systems. These actions have minimized known current exposures. Homeowners using private wells should monitor their well water quality and work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.

PFNA

PFNA was present in about 10% of private wells and at concentrations ranging from non-detect to 0.085 μ g/L. Drinking the most-highly contaminated water would result in doses ranging from about 0.003 to 0.01 μ g/kg/day for various age groups with high-end water consumption rates. These doses approach and exceed the corresponding MRL for PFNA of 0.003 μ g/kg/day. Age groups with typical water consumption rather than high consumption would have doses about a third to a half as high – only exceeding the MRL for the youngest age group. The toxicology literature has identified several potential health effects from PFNA exposures. A brief summary of the PFNA-specific developmental, immune, and liver effects considered the primary effects observed in animals exposed to PFAS is presented below.

- Developmental effects. Offspring of mice exposed to PFNA by gavage during gestation showed decreased body weight gain, transient changes in liver weight, and delays in postnatal development (eye opening, signs of male and female puberty) [39,7]. These effects, which are the basis for ATSDR's intermediate MRL for PFNA, occurred at a human equivalent dose of 1.7 µg/kg/day.
- **Immune effects.** The toxicological literature on immune effects of PFNA is limited. Acute duration exposures to PFNA caused changes in the thymus or spleen (considered to be immune-related effects) in rat and mouse studies [7]. However, no longer-duration immune studies are available, and it is not known whether these changes would occur or be relevant to immune function in humans exposed for longer periods
- Liver effects. PFNA exposure resulted in transient increased liver weights in pregnant mice and their offspring [39,7]. The observed liver changes do not appear to be relevant to humans.

The estimated doses for the highest PFNA concentration are orders of magnitude below the effect levels for developmental effects determined in toxicology studies. Exposure to PFNA in private well water is unlikely to increase the risk of developmental, immune, or liver effects.

Because PFNA was almost always detected with one or more other PFAS, we evaluated the potential for PFNA exposure to contribute to mixture effects.

Many homes with private wells have been provided alternate water and connection to a public water source or point-of-entry treatment systems. These actions have minimized known current exposures. Homeowners using private wells should monitor their well water quality and work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.

PFBA

Although PFBA concentrations in well water did not exceed screening levels, the following gives a brief discussion of what is known about PFBA's health effects, so all PFAS detected in private wells in this community are included. PFBA was detected in about 48% of 2,455 private wells analyzed; almost all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was $0.12 \mu g/L$. The state of Minnesota derived a chronic noncancer health risk limit of 7 $\mu g/L$ for PFBA based on a study that showed developmental delays and liver, blood, and thyroid changes in offspring of rats fed PFBA at a human equivalent dose of 860 $\mu g/kg/day$ [14]. By applying uncertainty factors to this dose, the state derived an oral chronic reference dose of 2.9 $\mu g/kg/day$. The highest concentration of PFBA detected in the private wells would result in a maximum dose to the most sensitive age group (birth up to one year old) of 0.02 $\mu g/kg/day$. Exposure to the levels of PFBA detected would be unlikely to result in harmful health effects. However, PFBA shares potential developmental and liver endpoints with the other PFAS evaluated, and thus may contribute to possible health effects. The extent of the possible contribution is unknown.

PFBS

Although PFBS concentrations in well water did not exceed screening levels, the following gives a brief discussion of what is known about PFBS's health effects, so all PFAS detected in private wells in this community are included. PFBS was detected in about 58% of 2,739 private wells analyzed; almost all of the detections occurred in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was 0.14 μ g/L. The state of Michigan derived a chronic health-based screening value of 1 μ g/L based on a different study that showed adverse kidney effects in rats fed PFBS at a human equivalent dose of 225 μ g/kg/day [15]. By applying uncertainty factors to this dose, the state derived a reference dose of 0.23 μ g/kg/day. The highest concentration of PFBS detected in the private wells would result in a maximum dose to the most sensitive age group (birth up to one year old) of 0.02 μ g/kg/day. Exposure to the levels of PFBS detected would be unlikely to result in harmful health effects.

Other PFAS present in wells

As discussed above, other PFAS for which no CVs were available were detected in some private wells. Not enough is currently known about health effects of other PFAS to allow a quantitative evaluation of their contribution, if any, to harmful health effects. Some of these PFAS were detected infrequently at low levels (below the lowest PFAS CV available, 0.014 μ g/L for PFOS)

and are not discussed further.⁷ The below discussion provides additional qualitative information about the other PFAS most commonly detected in the private wells. Full compound names can be found in Appendix A.

<u>PFHxA</u> was detected in about 76% of 2,509 private wells analyzed; all but 9 of the detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was $0.42 \mu g/L$. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on PFHxA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from PFHxA ingestion. The chemical structure of this PFAS (a short carboxylic acid chain of fewer than eight carbon atoms) suggests possibly faster elimination from the human body and lower potential for bioaccumulation compared to other PFAS [7]. However, given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding PFHxA exposure at this time.

<u>PFHpA</u> was detected in about 66% of 2,740 private wells analyzed; all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was $0.42 \mu g/L$. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on PFHpA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from its ingestion. The chemical structure of this PFAS (a short carboxylic acid chain of fewer than eight carbon atoms) suggests possibly faster elimination from the human body and lower potential for bioaccumulation compared to other PFAS [7]. However, given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding PFHpA exposure at this time.

<u>PFPeA</u> was detected in about 67% of 2,494 private wells analyzed; all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was $0.23 \mu g/L$. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on PFPeA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from its ingestion. The chemical structure of this PFAS (a short carboxylic acid chain of fewer than eight carbon atoms) suggests possibly faster elimination from the human body and lower potential for bioaccumulation compared to other PFAS [7]. However, given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding PFPeA exposure at this time.

<u>6:2 FTSA</u> was detected in about 3% of 1,750 private wells analyzed; all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was 0.57 μ g/L. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on 6:2 FTSA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from its ingestion [7]. Given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding 6:2 FTSA exposure at this time.

⁷ These other PFAS are PFTeDA (detected in 25 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0040 μ g/L); PFTrDA (detected in 12 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0065 μ g/L); PFDoDA (detected in 7 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0074 μ g/L); PFUnDA (detected in 7 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0074 μ g/L); PFUnDA (detected in 7 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0048 μ g/L); PFDA (detected in 57 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0058 μ g/L); PFDS (detected in 1 well at a concentration of 0.002 μ g/L); PFHpS (detected in 37 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0094 μ g/L); PFPeS (detected in 176 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.012 μ g/L); EtFOSAA (detected in 5 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0028 μ g/L); MeFOSAA (detected in 2 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.0017 μ g/L); Perfluoro(2-ethoxyethane)sulfonic acid (detected in 2 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.00098 μ g/L); Perfluoro-3,6-dioxaheptanoic acid (detected in 7 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.00098 μ g/L); and 4:2 FTSA (detected in 42 wells at a maximum concentration of 0.00098 μ g/L);

<u>8:2 FTSA</u> was detected in less than 1% of 1,750 private wells analyzed; all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was 0.044 μ g/L. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on 8:2 FTSA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from its ingestion [7]. Given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding 8:2 FTSA exposure at this time.

<u>FOSA</u> was detected in about 2% of 1,170 private wells analyzed; all detections were in wells that also had detections of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, or PFNA. The highest concentration detected was 0.059 μ g/L. At this time, too few studies have been conducted on FOSA to be able to evaluate possible health effects from its ingestion [7]. Given the lack of information, ATSDR cannot make definitive health conclusions regarding FOSA exposure at this time.

PFAS mixtures evaluation

Many wells contained detections of multiple PFAS. For mixtures, ATSDR recommends a tiered approach to determine whether further evaluation of mixture effects is necessary [40]:

In Tier 1, a hazard quotient is calculated for each of the identified contaminants. The hazard quotient is the ratio of the estimated dose of a contaminant and its corresponding noncancer or cancer-based health guideline. For the PFAS assessed in this report, we can only evaluate mixtures using noncancer health guidelines.⁸ Mixtures of contaminants with hazard quotients greater than 0.1 are carried forward for Tier 2 analysis.

Table 3 shows that for the private wells evaluated in this report, PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA all had hazard quotients greater than 0.1 in some wells. PFBA and PFBS had hazard quotients lower than 0.1 in all wells and are not carried forward to Tier 2. This Tier 1 analysis identified four PFAS in 1,101 wells to be included in the Tier 2 analysis.⁹ See Appendix B for further details.

⁸ Intermediate MRLs based on noncancer effects are available for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA. State reference doses based on noncancer effects are available for PFBA and PFBS. No official cancer slope factors exist for PFAS at the time of this report. Potential cancer effects are discussed later in this report.

⁹ Of the 1,644 wells not included in further mixtures analysis, we note that 1,004 of them included detections of other PFAS for which no health guidelines exist. ATSDR cannot evaluate the potential mixture effects of these other PFAS.

PFAS	Highest estimated hazard quotient in any well†	Number of wells with hazard quotient ≥0.1‡	Number of those wells at least one other PFAS with hazard quotient ≥0.1‡	Include PFAS in Tier 2 mixtures evaluation?
PFOA	76	2,362	1,101	Yes
PFOS	9	1,097	1,088	Yes
PFHxS	2	34	33	Yes
PFNA	4	24	24	Yes
PFBA	0.007	0	Not applicable	No
PFBS	0.09	0	Not applicable	No

Table 3. Tier 1 (hazard quotient) analysis of PFAS in private wells	5
near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, NH facility	

⁺Hazard quotient is the highest dose (for children from birth up to one year old with high-end water consumption) divided by the minimal risk level or reference dose listed in Table 2. Individual contaminants with hazard quotient greater than one are evaluated further, and those wells with more than one PFAS hazard quotient greater than 0.1 are included in the Tier 2 mixtures evaluation.

‡Numbers of wells are not additive, since some wells contained multiple PFAS.

- In Tier 2, for multi-component mixtures, all hazard quotients (regardless of the target organ) are summed to obtain a hazard index. Mixtures with a hazard index greater than 1 are carried forward to Tier 3 analysis. Tier 2 analysis assumes that doses are additive. Of the 1,101 properties with private wells evaluated in Tier 2, 670 of them had a hazard index greater than 1 and were evaluated further.
- Tier 3 analysis is a detailed analysis of potential mixture effects, considering, for example, shared target toxicities of each mixture component, sensitive subpopulations, or more refined estimates of potential exposure to the mixture.

Discussion of our findings from the mixtures analysis follows. More information about ATSDR's mixtures evaluation process is in Appendix B, beginning on page B-7.

Of the 1,101 private wells with potential mixture effects, 670 wells had a hazard index greater than 1 and were evaluated further. Toxicological literature suggests that PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA may share sensitive endpoints including developmental, immunological, and liver effects. ATSDR evaluated potential health implications from exposure to mixtures of these four PFAS by adding the estimated doses of PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA for each well. Because PFOA is the main PFAS driving public health concern at this site, we compared the summed dose to PFOA effect levels for harmful health effects.

This comparison identified 34 additional wells of potential concern that were not identified through the individual PFAS analysis. Exposure to contaminants from these wells could increase the risk of developmental effects, with increasing risk and additional risk of immune and liver effects as overall doses increase. In addition, most of the wells assessed for mixture effects contained PFOS, which could contribute to immune effects at lower concentrations than those observed for PFOA alone.

The presence of other PFAS (besides those that could be evaluated quantitatively) lends uncertainty to the health evaluation. Figure 3 shows the wells in the area, indicating those with detection of other PFAS not included in the mixtures evaluation due to a lack of toxicological information. Most of these other PFAS were detected along with PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA in private wells, and scientists do not know how their presence may affect health implications of exposure to the mixture. Also, many of the wells' analyses only included a limited number of the other PFAS, so it is possible that some wells contained other PFAS which were not analyzed. ATSDR recommends all private wells remaining in use in the area be tested regularly for a full range of PFAS and other contaminants. Figure 3. Distribution of private wells near the Saint-Gobain site in Merrimack, NH with other PFAS that could not be evaluated quantitatively through mixtures framework



Summary - noncancer health effects

ATSDR makes its public health recommendations to protect the most highly exposed and sensitive group—in this case, children between birth and one year of age who drink higher amounts of water from their private well. Other groups and those who consume more typical amounts of water will have less exposure, and thus less risk. The potential health implications from drinking from a particular private well depend not only on the levels of PFAS present, but also on the age of the child or adult drinking and how much water they drink. This concept is depicted in Figure 4, which shows how the dose calculated for one contaminant concentration varies for different age groups consuming different amounts of water every day.

Figure 4. How age group and water consumption affect estimated dose at a set contaminant concentration (0.1 micrograms per liter example)



Based on the most sensitive age group drinking a high-end amount of water every day, past consumption from 237 private wells in the five towns evaluated could have increased the risk for harmful health effects. About 9% (22 wells) of those wells had PFAS concentrations high enough to increase risk for all age groups. Developmental effects would likely be the most sensitive effect, with the possibility of immune or liver effects increasing as contaminant levels increased.

Figure 5 shows the spatial distribution of private wells included in this evaluation and those that could have resulted in harmful health effects for past exposures.¹⁰ Private wells with PFAS

¹⁰ As stated earlier, affected private wells in the area have been connected to a treated public water source or provided point-of-entry treatment systems, so harmful exposures should no longer be occurring. Homeowners still using private wells in the area should have their water tested and use an alternate drinking water source if PFAS contamination is found.





PRI ID 05772 | AUTHOR: L. Hick

concentrations that could have posed a risk of harmful health effects to sensitive age groups are shown in dark red, and those with higher PFAS concentrations that could have posed a risk to all age groups are shown in brighter red. Wells of concern are present in each of the five towns included in the evaluation; most appear to be concentrated in the areas closer to the Saint-Gobain facility.

Cancer effects from exposure to PFOA and other PFAS

Analysis of human epidemiological studies on PFOA exposure suggest that PFOA exposure is associated with some types of cancer, including kidney, testicular, and prostate cancers; a causal relationship has not been proven [7,41–44]. Animal studies have shown some evidence that PFOA might cause several cancers, including liver, testicular, kidney, forestomach, thyroid, and pancreatic cancers [7,45,46]. Although we do not know if cancer at these sites in animals results from a mode of action that is relevant to humans, an association between PFOA exposure and kidney and testicular cancers have been shown in both human and animal studies.

Based on available information, EPA has concluded that there is suggestive evidence of carcinogenic potential of PFOA in humans [43]. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified PFOA as possibly carcinogenic to humans based on limited evidence in humans, including a positive association observed for cancers of the testis and kidney, and on limited evidence in experimental animals [44].

For PFOS, EPA has concluded that there is suggestive evidence of its carcinogenic potential based on limited evidence of liver cancer in rats [47]. Little to no information is currently available on the carcinogenicity of PFNA, PFHxS, or other PFAS.

Currently, ATSDR cannot estimate a quantitative cancer risk for PFOA, PFOS, or other PFAS. At this time, carcinogenic potential for most PFAS has not been fully assessed, and the science is too limited to quantify risk.¹¹ The increased risk of developing cancer from exposure to PFAS in the area is uncertain.

Concerns about cancer risks led the NH DHHS to review cancer incidence in the town of Merrimack in a 2018 report [49]. Between 2004 and 2014¹² in Merrimack, there were no statistical differences between observed diagnoses of any type of cancer and the number expected based on New Hampshire standard cancer incidence rates.

The NH DHHS cancer review covered a different population than evaluated in this report. The cancer review included all residents of Merrimack, not only private well users, and it did not include any residents of Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, or Manchester.

¹¹ In 2016, EPA used data from a rat study of PFOA exposure and testicular cancer to calculate a provisional PFOA oral cancer slope factor of 7×10^{-5} per $\mu g/kg/day$ [43]. However, this was not an official oral cancer slope factor. Findings of more recent studies suggest that the provisional cancer slope factor is no longer appropriate for estimating PFOA cancer risk, but as of this date an alternative factor has not been developed.

¹² Data for lung and bronchus and prostate cancer were only available through 2013.

PFAS levels in blood: U.S. population versus private well users near this site

PFAS are retained in the human body and can be measured in a person's blood serum. Since 1999, the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) has measured blood PFAS as part of its program to evaluate the health and nutrition of adults and children in the United States [50]. As shown in Figure 6, NHANES data has shown a steady decline in serum PFOS and PFOA levels since 2002, when these substances began being phased out of production and use.

Figure 6. U.S. population's average* blood serum PFAS levels over time, as measured through the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey



Although science does not yet allow us to tell what levels of PFAS in serum can cause harmful health effects, blood serum PFAS levels can be useful to compare against population averages to determine if unusual exposures may have occurred.

Responding to the PFAS contamination found in private wells around the Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics facility, NH DHHS expanded an existing blood testing program to include the southern New Hampshire area. In 2016 and 2017, the state measured PFAS in the blood of 219 private drinking water well users. NH DHHS reported the findings in 2018 [51,52]. The people who participated in this blood testing may not be representative of all users of the private wells evaluated in this report. However, this testing provided relevant data on possible exposures. We provide a brief summary of the findings, compared against NHANES data from roughly the same timeframe, below.

The NH DHHS reports state that PFOA, PFOS, and PFHxS were detected in over 95% of the people tested; these are the only PFAS for which results were discussed. As summarized in Table 4, PFOA levels in private well users' blood appeared to be significantly elevated compared to the general U.S. population. Almost half of private well users from the NH DHHS testing had PFOA blood levels that would place them in the top 5% of exposure measured in the general U.S.

population. In contrast, PFOS and PFHxS blood serum concentrations were similar to general population levels.

Because PFOA was the predominant contaminant in private well water, these blood results support the general conclusion that private drinking well water contamination could have led to elevated exposures, consistent with the findings of the evaluation in this health consultation. These findings, however, can't be used to directly predict a person's PFAS blood level from their well water PFAS concentration, or vice versa. ATSDR did not access the original data from the blood testing and has not examined the relationship between serum PFAS results and PFAS concentration in private wells used.¹³ The people who participated in the New Hampshire blood testing may not be representative of all private well users in the area. In addition, a person's blood PFAS level could include exposures from various sources, including other environmental media, food, or consumer products, in addition to well water.

Table 4. ATSDR summary of NH private well users' 2016-2017 PFAS blood testing results compared to U.S.population data

PFAS	NH private well users geometric mean serum concentration for 2016-17 sampling in μg/L	General U.S. population geometric mean serum concentration for survey years 2015- 16, 2017-18 in µg/L	NH private well users 95 th percentile* serum concentration for 2016-17 sampling in μg/L	population 95 th percentile* serum concentration for survey years 2015-16, 2017-18 in µg/L	Approximate % of NH private well users that exceeded the U.S. general population 95 th percentile*
PFOA	4.4	1.6, 1.4	26.6	4.2, 3.8	37-64%
PFOS	5.4	4.7, 4.3	16.4	18.3, 14.6	1-9%
PFHxS	1.3	1.2, 1.1	3.4	4.9, 3.7	1-6%

*The 95th percentile is that blood serum concentration that 95% of the results fell below. Measured values within a given population would be expected to exceed the 95th percentile only about 5% of the time, on average. Data sources: NH WISDOM website [52], <u>https://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/pfas_early_release.html</u> General U.S. population statistics from values reported for 2015-16 and for 2017-18 survey years reported at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/pfas_early_release.html</u>, rounded to one decimal.

Health considerations for susceptible populations

ATSDR is committed to considering potential health effects of exposure to all groups, including those that might be unusually susceptible to environmental contamination. Pregnant women, the developing fetus, infants, children, and people of all age groups with certain pre-existing conditions might be unusually vulnerable to harmful health effects from PFAS exposure.

¹³ The NH DHHS summary report for the southern New Hampshire private well users states, "Individuals with higher concentrations of PFOA in their private well water have higher blood PFOA levels" [51]. ATSDR did not examine the raw data to verify this statement.

- Pregnant women exposed to excessive PFAS levels could have an increased risk of high blood pressure or pre-eclampsia. High PFOA or PFOS levels in pregnant women's blood serum were associated with decreases in their babies' birth weights, but the changes were small and may not be clinically relevant.
- Infants may be exposed to PFAS through their mother's milk. Developmental effects are the most sensitive effect resulting from any early life exposure. However, breastfeeding provides many health and nutritional benefits to a child, including reduced risk of ear and respiratory infections, asthma, obesity, and sudden infant death syndrome. Breastfeeding can also help lower a mother's risk of high blood pressure, type 2 diabetes, and ovarian and breast cancer [53]. In general, CDC and the American Academy of Pediatrics recommend breastfeeding, despite the presence of chemical toxicants [54,55]. A woman's decision to breastfeed is a personal choice, made after consideration of many different factors specific to the mother and child, and best made in consultation with her healthcare provider. ATSDR has developed information to guide doctors in this decision-making process (See https://attedr.ede.gov/pfas/docs/clinical_guidance_12_20_2019.pdf). Women who plan

<u>https://atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/docs/clinical-guidance-12-20-2019.pdf</u>). Women who plan to breastfeed should reduce their potential exposures to toxic substances as much as possible.

- Infants may also be exposed to PFAS through formula made with contaminated water. In addition to exposure from water, infants could have additional exposure, such as from hand-to-mouth behavior after contacting carpets or other household items previously treated with PFAS. In this report, ATSDR based its public health decisions on infants, which would have the highest dose because of their higher water intake and smaller body weight compared to other age groups. Children exposed to contaminated water also have a greater dose of PFAS compared to adults because of higher contaminant intakes in proportion to body size, and they may also be exposed to PFAS from hand-to-mouth behavior. Developmental effects would be the most sensitive adverse health effect resulting from early life exposure. PFAS exposure may also decrease children's antibody responses to childhood vaccines.
- People of all age groups with certain pre-existing conditions could be more susceptible to harm from PFAS exposures. For example, exposure to certain PFAS could increase cholesterol levels in some people. A greater health impact could result if the person exposed already has high cholesterol or other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Similarly, PFAS exposure could disproportionately affect people who already have compromised immune system or liver function or who have high blood pressure. More research is needed to understand how exposure to PFAS might affect people with pre-existing risk factors for cardiovascular and other diseases.

Conclusions

Before actions began in 2016 to reduce exposures, drinking private well water contaminated with PFAS could have increased the risk for harmful health effects for some community members.

Most of the private wells evaluated in the five towns of Merrimack, Litchfield, Londonderry, Bedford, and Manchester were contaminated with PFAS. PFOA was detected most frequently and at the highest concentrations. Based on ATSDR's evaluation of both individual PFAS and PFAS mixture effects detailed in this report, more than 230 out of 2,745 wells had PFAS at levels that could harm infants or young children, and about 9% of those wells had levels that could harm all age groups. Developmental effects are the most likely possible health effects from exposure, and the risk of developmental effects would increase as PFAS levels and exposure increased. Immune or liver effects would also be possible from exposure to the highest PFAS levels. Other sources of PFAS exposure (such as from food or consumer products) could increase the risk of harmful health effects beyond the risk from the drinking water exposures alone.

The remaining wells, with lower or no detections of PFAS, are not expected to have harmed health. However, this conclusion is uncertain. Many wells were sampled only once, and the actual PFAS levels could have fluctuated over time. Also, knowledge about health effects of the PFAS evaluated is still evolving, and many wells contained other PFAS which have not been studied enough to evaluate the potential for health effects.

The increased risk of developing cancer from exposure to PFAS in the area is uncertain. There is suggestive evidence that both PFOA and PFOS are carcinogenic, but the science on PFOA, PFOS, and other PFAS is too limited at this time to quantify risk.

Currently, harmful exposures to PFAS in private wells have been minimized by providing alternate water and taking other actions. People who continue to drink contaminated, untreated private well water may still have an increased risk for harmful health effects.

Since 2016, bottled water has been provided to residents whose private wells were affected by PFAS. More than 750 private wells in the area have been switched to treated public water or equipped with point-of-entry treatment systems which are regularly tested for treatment effectiveness. Some private wells with low levels of PFAS, or wells with no detections, may remain in use. Based on the current science, harmful health effects are unlikely if PFAS concentrations in those wells remain low. Residents drinking from private wells that were never tested, or who were offered but declined alternate water, may experience harmful health effects if they drink water with high PFAS concentrations.

Recommendations

- Private well owners who had potentially harmful exposures in the past should discuss their exposure with their health care provider and consider taking steps to reduce other potential PFAS exposures, such as those from consumer products containing PFAS.
- Residents should reduce exposure from background sources of PFAS by avoiding or limiting the use of products containing PFAS. Examples of products that may contain PFAS include food packing materials, stain resistant carpets, water resistant clothing, cleaning products, and some cosmetics.
- ATSDR recommends nursing mothers continue to breastfeed and contact their healthcare providers with specific concerns. ATSDR is available to consult with healthcare providers as needed. To help protect formula-fed infants from potential exposure, caregivers should use pre-mixed formula or reconstitute dry formula with water sources not containing PFAS.
- Residents using point-of-entry treatment systems to remove PFAS from private well water should have the systems maintained and checked periodically to ensure removal effectiveness.
- Residents continuing to drink from private wells should monitor their well water quality and should work with local authorities to take appropriate action to remove harmful contaminants, if needed.
- ATSDR will work with NH DES and NH DHHS to identify any private wells with PFAS levels of concern that have not been addressed through previous actions.

ATSDR is available to discuss individual results with private well owners and will continue to be available, upon request, to answer other public health questions related to the site.

ATSDR site team

Primary author Jill Dyken, PhD, PE

Regional representatives Gary Perlman*, MPH, REHS/RS, DAAS Tarah Somers, MSN, MPH Michael Brooks*, MS, CHP

Technical contributors

Greg Ulirsch, PhD David Mellard, PhD Melanie Buser, PhD Rachel Rogers, PhD Moiz Mumtaz, PhD Hana Pohl, MD, PhD

*No longer with ATSDR.

References

- State of New Hampshire. Consent decree, State of New Hampshire, Dept. of Environmental Services v. Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corporation. State of New Hampshire, Merrimack County, SS, Superior Court; March 2018. Available at: <u>https://www4.des.state.nh.us/nh-pfas-investigation/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/finalcd-20180320.pdf</u>. Accessed June 12, 2020.
- Marts J. E-mail to J. Dyken the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry RE: ATSDR & PFAS in Private Wells in NH (and attached file "NH DES Responses to ATSDR Questions 5-6-2020.pdf"). Concord: New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; received Wednesday, May 6, 2020 3:43 pm.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. EPA (2016e). Factsheet PFOA and PFOS Drinking Water Health Advisories. EPA Office of Water; November 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-</u>06/documents/drinkingwaterhealthadvisories_pfoa_pfos_updated_5.31.16.pdf. Accessed on August 27, 2020.
- New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Web site "NH PFAS Investigation." <u>https://www4.des.state.nh.us/nh-pfas-investigation/</u> Accessed June 12, 2020.
- Chan BP. Letter to S. Williams-Fleetwood of the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Concord: New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services; June 29, 2016.
- Bennett D. E-mail to J. Dyken of the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry RE: Hello - ATSDR & PFAS in Private Wells. Concord: New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; received Friday, November 15, 2019 12:45 pm.
- 7. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Toxicological profile for perfluoroalkyls. Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; May 2021.
- Bennett D. E-mail to J. Dyken of the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry RE: Hello - ATSDR & PFAS in Private Wells (and attached file "PFAS_WellDataDump_5Town_ATSDR_20191016.xlsx"). Concord: New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; received Thursday, October 17, 2019 9:29 am.
- Bennett D. E-mail to J. Dyken of the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry RE: New Hampshire Private Well Data Validation Feedback (and attached file "PFAS_WellDataDump_5Town_ATSDR_20210430.xlsx"). Concord: New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; received Friday, April 30, 2021 11:36 am.
- 10. Interstate Technology Regulatory Council. Technical resources for addressing environmental releases of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS): naming

conventions and use. Washington (DC): Interstate Technology Regulatory Council; updated May 2021. Available at: <u>https://pfas-1.itrcweb.org/2-2-chemistry-</u> <u>terminology-and-acronyms/</u>. Accessed July 21, 2021.<u>https://pfas-1.itrcweb.org/2-2-</u> <u>chemistry-terminology-and-acronyms/</u>

- 11. Interstate Technology Regulatory Council. PFAS water and soil values table Excel file. Washington (DC): Interstate Technology Regulatory Council; Updated May 2021. Available at: <u>https://pfas-1.itrcweb.org/fact-sheets/</u>. Accessed July 21, 2021.
- 12. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Exposure dose guidance for body weight. Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; October 2016.
- 13. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Exposure dose guidance for water ingestion, version 2. Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; October 2016.
- Minnesota Department of Health. Toxicological summary for perfluorobutanoate. St. Paul (MN): Minnesota Department of Health, Environmental Health Division, Health Risk Assessment Unit. Adopted as Rule: August 2018; downloaded on February 21, 2020.
- 15. Michigan Department of Health and Human Services. Public health drinking water screening levels for PFAS. Lansing (MI): Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Environmental Health. February 2019.
- 16. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Draft supporting document for epidemiological studies for perfluoroalkyls. Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; March 2018.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. What are the health effects of PFAS? Atlanta (GA); 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/pfas/healtheffects/index.html</u>. Accessed September 9, 2020.
- National Toxicology Program. Monograph on immunotoxicity associated with exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS). Research Triangle Park, NC: National Toxicology Program. <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/</u> <u>ntp/ohat/pfoa_pfos/pfoa_pfosmonograph_508.pdf</u>. 2016.
- 19. Hall AP, Elcombe CR, Foster JR, Harada T, Kaufmann W, Knippel A, Kuttler K, Malarkey DE, Maronpot RR, Nishikawa A, Nolte T, Schulte A, Strauss V, and York MJ. Liver hypertrophy: a review of adaptive (adverse and non-adverse) changes conclusions from the 3rd international ESTP expert workshop. Toxicologic Pathology 40:971–994; 2012.
- 20. Onishchenko N, Fischer C, Ibraham WNW, Negri S, Spulber S, Cottica D, and Ceccatelli S. Prenatal exposure to PFOS or PFOA alters motor function in mice in a sex-related manner. Neurotox Res 19:452–461; 2011.
- 21. Koskela A, Finnila MA, Korkalainen M, Spulber S, Koponen J, Hakansson H, Tuukkanen J, Viluksela M. Effects of developmental exposures to perfluorooctanoic

acid (PFOA) on long bone morphology and bone cell differentiation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 301:14–21; 2016.

- 22. DeWitt JC, Copeland CB, Strynar MJ, and Luebke RW. Perfluorooctanoic acidinduced immunomodulation in adult C57BL/6J or C57BL/6N female mice. Environ Health Perspect 116(5):644–650; 2008.
- 23. DeWitt JC, Williams WC, Creech NJ, and Luebke RW. Suppression of antigenspecific antibody responses in mice exposed to perfluorooctanoic acid: role of PPAR and T- and B-cell targeting. J Immunotoxicol 13(1):38–45; 2016. doi: 10.3109/1547691X.2014.996682. Epub 2015 Jan 16.
- 24. Quist EM, Filgo AJ, Cummings CA, Kissling GE, Hoenerhoff MJ, and Fenton SE. Hepatic mitochondrial alteration in CD-1 mice associated with prenatal exposures to low doses of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). Toxicol Pathol 43(4):546–557; 2015. 10.1177/0192623314551841.
- 25. Loveless SE, Hoban D, Sykes G, Frame SR, and Everds NE. Evaluation of the immune system in rats and mice administered linear ammonium perfluorooctanoate. Toxicol Sci 105(1):86–96; 2008.
- 26. Filgo AJ, Quist EM, Hoenerhoff MJ, Brix AE, Kissling GE, and Fenton SE. Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)-induced liver lesions in two strains of mice following developmental exposures: PPARα is not required. Toxicol Pathol 43(4):558–568; 2015.
- Butenhoff JL, Kennedy GL, Frame SR, O'Connor JC, and York RG. The reproductive toxicology of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) in the rat. Toxicology 196(1–2):95–116; 2004.
- 28. Butenhoff J, Costa G, Elcombe C, Farrar D, Hansen K, Iwai H, Jung R, Kennedy G, Lieder P, Olsen G, and Thomford P. Toxicity of ammonium perfluorooctanoate in male Cynomolgus monkeys after oral dosing for 6 months. Toxicol Sci 69(1):244–257; 2002.
- 29. White SS, Stanko JP, Kato K, Calafat AM, Hines EP, and Fenton SE. Gestational and chronic low-dose PFOA exposures and mammary gland growth and differentiation in three generations of CD-1 mice. Environ Health Perspect 119(8):1070-1076; 2011.
- 30. Luebker DJ, Case MT, York RG et al. Two-generation reproduction and cross-foster studies of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats. Toxicol 215:126–148; 2005.
- 31. Guruge KS, Hikono H, Shimada N, Murakami K, Hasegawa J, Yeung LWY, Yamanaka N, and Yamashita N. Effect of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) on influenza A virus-induced mortality in female B6C3F1 mice. J Toxicol Sci 34(6):687– 691; 2009.
- 32. Dong G-H, Liu M-M, Wang D, Zheng L, Liang Z-F, and Jin Y-H. Sub-chronic effect of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) on the balance of type 1 and type 2 cytokine in adult C57BL6 mice. Arch Toxicol 85:1235–1244; 2011.

- 33. Dong G-H, Zhang Y-H, Zheng L, Liu W, Jin Y-H, and He Q-C. Chronic effects of perfluorooctanesulfonate exposure on immunotoxicity in adult male C57BL/6 mice. Arch Toxicol 83:805–815; 2009.
- 34. Seacat AM, Thomford PJ, Hansen KJ, Olsen GW, Case MT, and Butenhoff JL. Subchronic toxicity studies on perfluorooctanesulfonate potassium salt in Cynomolgus monkeys. Toxicol Sci 68(1):249–264; 2002.
- 35. Wan HT, Zhao YG, Leung PY, and Wong CKC. Perinatal exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate affects glucose metabolism in adult offspring. PLoS ONE 9(1):e87137. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087137; 2014.
- 36. Butenhoff JL, Chang SC, Ehresman DJ, et al. Evaluation of potential reproductive and developmental toxicity of potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate in Sprague Dawley rats. Reprod Toxicol 27:331–341; 2009.
- Hoberman AM, York RG. Oral (gavage) combined repeated dose toxicity study of T-7706 with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test. Argus Research; 2003.
- Mogensen UB, Grandjean P, Heilmann C, Nielsen F, Weihe P, and Budtz-Jorgensen E. Structural equation modeling of immunotoxicity associated with exposure to perfluorinated alkylates. Environ Health 14:47; 2015.
- Das KP, Grey BE, Rosen MB, Wood CR, Tatum-Gibbs KR, Zehr RD, Strynar MJ, Lindstrom AB, Lau C. Developmental toxicity of perfluorononanoic acid in mice. Reprod Toxicol 51: 133–44; 2015.
- 40. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Framework for assessing health impacts of multiple chemicals and other stressors (update). Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; February 2018.
- Steenland K, Fletcher T, Stein CR, Bartell SM, Darrow L, Lopez-Espinosa MJ, et al. 2020 Review: Evolution of evidence on PFOA and health following the assessments of the C8 Science Panel. Environ Int. 145:106125. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2020.106125. E-pub 2020 Sep 18.
- 42. Shearer JJ, Callahan CL, Calafat AM, Huang W, Jones RR, Sabbisetti VS, et al. 2021. Serum concentrations of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and risk of renal cell carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 113:580–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djaa143.
- 43. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Health effects support document for perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA); EPA 822-R-16-003. Washington (DC): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water; May 2016.
- 44. International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, volume 110: some chemicals used as solvents and in polymer manufacture (chapter on perfluorooctanoic acid). Lyon (France): 2017.
- 45. National Toxicology Program. TR-598: Technical Report Pathology Tables and Curves - PFOA. Research Triangle Park: US Department of Health and Human

Services; 2018. Available from:

https://tools.niehs.nih.gov/cebs3/views/?action=main.dataReview&bin_id=13658.

- 46. National Toxicology Program. Technical report on the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of perfluorooctanoic acid (CASRN 335-67-1) administered in feed to Sprague Dawley (Hsd: Sprague Dawley® SD®) rats. NTP TR 598. Research Triangle Park: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2020. Available from: https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/htdocs/lt_rpts/tr598_508.pdf.
- 47. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Health effects support document for perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS); EPA 822-R-16-002. Washington (DC): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water. May 2016. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-05/documents/pfos_hesd_final_508.pdf.
- 48. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2016, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2016/</u>, based on November 2018 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2019. Accessed on March 4, 2020.
- 49. New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services. Cancer incidence report, Merrimack, NH. Concord (NH): New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services; January 2018.
- 50. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Fourth report on human exposure to environmental chemicals, updated tables. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; January 2017.
- 51. New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services. Summary of the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services' perfluorochemical (PFC) blood testing program, 2016-2017. Concord (NH): New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services; October 2017.
- 52. New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services. Southern New Hampshire PFAS blood testing program data on NH Health WISDOM, results included through 8/23/17 (219 participants). Concord (NH): New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services, Bureau of Public Health Statistics and Informatics.
- 53. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019. U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity Frequently Asked Questions: What are the benefits of breastfeeding? Atlanta (GA): 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/faq/index.htm#benefits</u>. Accessed on June 9, 2020.
- 54. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Exposure to Environmental Toxins. Atlanta (GA): 2015. Available at:

http://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/disease/environmental_toxins.htm. Accessed on June 9, 2020.

- 55. American Academy of Pediatrics. Policy statement: Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 129(3):e827–41; 2012.
- 56. Buck RC, Franklin J, Berger U, Conder JM, Cousins IT, de Voogt P, Jensen AA, Kannan KK, Mabury SA, van Leeuwen SP. Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classification, and origins (supplemental data). Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 7(4):513–541; 2011.
- 57. Kim S, Chen J, Cheng T, et al. PubChem 2019 update: improved access to chemical data. (PubChem CID: 114481). Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(D1):D1102–D1109. doi:10.1093/nar/gky1033.
- 58. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Public health assessment guidance manual (update). Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; January 2005.
- 59. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Exposure dose guidance for determining life expectancy and exposure factor. Atlanta (GA): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; October 2016.

Appendix A. Full names and chemical information for PFAS in report

Table A1. Full names, chemical formulae, and Chemical Abstract Services Registry numbers for compounds included in the data
provided to ATSDR by NH DES (listed in order of increasing total number of carbon atoms, detected substances shown in bold)

PFAS Abbreviation	Full Name	Chemical Formula	Chemical Abstract Services Registry Number
PFBA	Perfluorobutyric acid		375-22-4
PFBS	Perfluorobutane sulfonate anion Perfluorobutane sulfonic acid	C4F9SO3 ⁻ C4F9SO3H	45187-15-3 375-73-5 or 59933-66-3
PFPeA	Perfluoropentanoic acid	C ₄ F ₉ COOH	2706-90-3
Perfluoro-3- methoxypropanoic acid	Perfluoro-3-methoxypropanoic acid	C4HF7O3	377-73-1
Perfluoro(2- ethoxyethane)sulfonic acid	Perfluoro(2-ethoxyethane)sulfonic acid	C4HF9O4S	113507-82-7
Perfluorobutylsulfonamide	Perfluorobutylsulfonamide	C4H2F9NO2S	30334-69-1
PFPeS	Perfluoropentane sulfonic acid	C₅F11SO3H	2706-91-4
PFHxA	Perfluorohexanoic acid	C₅F11COOH	307-24-4
Perfluoro(4- methoxybutanoic) acid	Perfluoro(4-methoxybutanoic) acid	C ₅ HF ₉ O ₃	863090-89-5
Perfluoro-3,6-dioxaheptanoic acid	Perfluoro-3,6-dioxaheptanoic acid	C ₅ HF ₉ O ₄	151772-58-6
PFHxS	Perfluorohexane sulfonate anion Perfluorohexane sulfonic acid	C6F13SO3 ⁻ C6F13SO3H	108427-53-8 355-46-4
4:2 FTSA	4:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonate anion 4:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonic acid	C4F9CH2CH2SO3 ⁻ C4F9CH2CH2SO3H	414911-30-1 757124-72-4
GenX	Hexafluoropropylene oxide dimer acid Ammonium salt form	$\begin{array}{c} {\sf C}_6{\sf H}{\sf F}_{11}{\sf O}_3 \\ {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4{\sf F}_{11}{\sf N}{\sf O}_3 \end{array}$	13252-13-6 62037-80-3
РҒНрА	Perfluoroheptanoic acid	C ₆ F ₁₃ COOH	375-85-9
1-Propene, 1,1,2,3,3,3- hexafluoro-, dimer	1-Propene, 1,1,2,3,3,3-hexafluoro-, dimer	C ₆ F ₁₂	13429-24-8
Perfluorohexanesulfonamide	Perfluorohexanesulfonamide	$C_6H_2F_{13}NO_2S$	41997-13-1
PFHpS	Perfluoroheptane sulfonate anion Perfluoroheptane sulfonic acid	C7F15SO3 ⁻ C7F15SO3H	146689-46-5 375-92-8
DONA / ADONA	4,8-Dioxa-3H-perfluorononanoic acid (DONA) Ammonium salt form (ADONA)	C7H2F12O4 C7H5F12NO4	919005-14-4 958445-44-8

PFAS Abbreviation	Full Name	Chemical Formula	Chemical Abstract Services Registry Number			
PFOA	Perfluorooctanoic acid	C7F15COOH	335-67-1			
PFOS	Perfluorooctane sulfonate anion Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid	C8F17SO3 ⁻ C8F17SO3H	45298-90-6 1763-23-1			
6:2 FTSA	6:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonate anion 6:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonic acid	C ₆ F ₁₃ CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₃ ⁻ C ₆ F ₁₃ CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₃ H	425670-75-3 27619-97-2			
FOSA	Perfluorooctane sulfonamide	$C_8F_{17}SO_2NH_2$	754-91-6			
9-Chlorohexadecafluoro-3- oxanone-1-sulfonic acid	9-Chlorohexadecafluoro-3-oxanone-1- sulfonic acid	C ₈ HCIF ₁₆ O ₄ S	756426-58-1			
PFNA	Perfluorononanoic acid	C ₈ F ₁₇ COOH	375-95-1			
PFNS	Perfluorononane sulfonic acid	C9F19SO3H	474511-07-4 or 68259-12-1			
MeFOSA	N-Methyl perfluorooctane sulfonamide	C ₈ F ₁₇ SO ₂ NH(CH ₃)	31506-32-8			
PFDA	Perfluorodecanoic acid	C ₉ F ₁₉ COOH	335-76-2			
PFDS	Perfluorodecane sulfonate anion Perfluorodecane sulfonic acid	C ₁₀ F ₂₁ SO ₃ ⁻ C ₁₀ F ₂₁ SO ₃ H	126105-34-8 335-77-3			
8:2 FTSA	8:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonate anion 8:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonic acid	C ₈ F ₁₇ CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₃ ⁻ C ₈ F ₁₇ CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₃ H	481071-78-7 39108-34-4			
EtFOSA	N-Ethyl perfluoroocttane sulfonamide	$C_8F_{17}SO_2NH(C_2H_5)$ (sulfluramid)	4151-50-2			
11-Chloroeicosafluoro-3- oxaundecane-1-sulfonic acid	11-Chloroeicosafluoro-3-oxaundecane- 1-sulfonic acid	C10HCIF20O4S	763051-92-9			
PFUnDA	Perfluoroundecanoic acid	C10F21COOH	2058-94-8			
MeFOSE	N-Methyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanol	C ₈ F ₁₇ SO ₂ N(CH ₃)CH ₂ CH ₂ OH	24448-09-7			
MeFOSAA	N-Methyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoacetic acid	C ₈ F ₁₇ SO ₂ N(CH ₃)CH ₂ COOH	2355-31-9			
PFDoDA	Perfluorododecanoic acid	C ₁₁ F ₂₃ COOH	307-55-1			
PFDoDS	Perfluorododecane sulfonic acid	C ₁₂ F ₂₅ SO ₃ H	79780-39-5			
10:2 FTSA	10:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonic acid	C ₁₀ F ₂₁ CH ₂ CH ₂ SO ₃ H	120226-60-0			
ETFOSE	N-Ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanol	C ₈ F ₁₇ SO ₂ N(C ₂ H ₅)CH ₂ CH ₂ O H 1691-99-2				

PFAS Abbreviation	Full Name	Chemical Formula	Chemical Abstract Services Registry Number			
EtFOSAA	N-Ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoacetic acid	C ₈ F ₁₇ SO ₂ N(C ₂ H ₅)CH ₂ COOH	2991-50-6			
PFTrDA	Perfluorotridecanoic acid	C ₁₂ F ₂₅ COOH	72629-94-8			
PFTeDA	Perfluorotetradecanoic acid	C ₁₃ F ₂₇ COOH	376-06-7			
PFHxDA	Perfluorohexadecanoic acid	C ₁₅ F ₃₁ COOH	67905-19-5			
PFODA	Perfluorooctadecanoic acid	C ₁₇ F ₃₅ COOH	16517-11-6			

Bold abbreviations indicate the substance was analyzed and detected at least once in private well testing provided to ATSDR. Data from [56,57,7]

Appendix B. ATSDR evaluation process and details

Exposure pathway analysis

For contaminant exposure to occur to a person, there must be an uninterrupted chain whereby the chemical moves from its source to the person's body, where harmful effect might occur. ATSDR terms this chain an *exposure pathway*. Exposure pathways consist of five elements: a contamination *source; transport* of the contaminant through an environmental medium like air, soil, or water; an *exposure point* where people can come in contact with the contaminant; an *exposure route* whereby the contaminant can be taken into the body; and an *exposed population* of people actually coming in contact with site contaminants [58]. ATSDR evaluates each of these five elements to determine whether exposure is occurring to community members living near a site. Exposure may occur through multiple different pathways. If exposure through a particular pathway is determined to have occurred, it does not necessarily mean that harmful health effects will occur. A chemical's ability to harm health depends on many factors, including how much of the chemical is present, how long and how often a person is exposed to the chemical, and how toxic the chemical is. Further evaluation of the specific exposure occurring is needed to determine whether the exposure could cause harmful health effects.

The private well pathway evaluated in this health consultation consists of the following five elements:

- **Source** Releases of PFAS from the Saint-Gobain site into the air¹⁴
- **Transport** PFAS dispersing in air, settling onto the ground, and washing down into underlying groundwater used for drinking water for private wells
- **Exposure Point** Drinking water taps of people living in the area using private wells
- Exposure Route Ingestion of drinking water provided by private wells
- **Exposed Population** People living or working in the area who drink or drank water from private wells

This exposure pathway is considered

- **Complete for past exposures** because the presence of PFAS used in the Saint-Gobain processes was confirmed in many wells, and people used these wells as a drinking water source
- **Incomplete for current exposures** for people who are no longer drinking from private wells or if their water is treated to remove PFAS
- **Complete for current exposures** for people who continue to drink from private wells with any detection of PFAS

¹⁴ Although PFAS contamination of private wells in the area is believed to primarily originate from air emissions from operations of the Saint-Gobain facility, the groundwater data which we used for estimating PFAS exposure may have included detections of PFAS chemicals from other sources in the area, such as landfills, fire training facilities, or other unknown sources. Our conclusions and recommendations are general and based on exposure as described by private well data; we make no attempt to attribute measured contaminants to the site or to other sources.

• **Potential for current exposures** for area residents whose well water has never been tested

No data describing PFAS levels in other environmental media besides drinking water near the site were available to us. Therefore, we did not consider any other potential past, present, or future exposure pathways in this report, including

- Inhalation exposure to PFAS released into the air from the facility;
- Direct contact or incidental ingestion exposure to PFAS in soil, surface water, or sediment;
- Indirect ingestion of PFAS in biota (fish, shellfish, or plants) that may have bioaccumulated PFAS from their local environment; or
- Exposure to PFAS from consumer products in the home or community.

Contaminant screening

In evaluating chemical contaminant data, ATSDR used comparison values (CVs) to prioritize which chemicals or which exposure points (for example, which private wells) are of most potential concern. The health-based CVs used in this report are contaminant concentrations in drinking water that are <u>not</u> expected to result in harmful health effects, even to a small child drinking the water every day. Exceeding a CV does not mean that health effects will occur, just that more evaluation is needed.

ATSDR develops CVs for many substances; different CVs may be developed based on noncancer or cancer health effects. In the absence of ATSDR-derived CVs, state or other agency-developed screening values may be used.

In this report, ATSDR used the following CVs for PFAS:

Environmental Media Evaluation Guides (EMEGs) for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA; derived from the ATSDR intermediate minimal risk levels (MRLs) for these PFAS and representing estimated contaminant concentrations in drinking water that are unlikely to cause noncancer health effects.

Michigan chronic health-based screening level for PFBS, based on a reference dose derived by the state and considered safe for chronic exposures.

Minnesota chronic noncancer health risk limit for PFBA, based on a reference dose estimated by the state and considered safe for chronic exposures.

The screening of PFAS at this site is presented in the body of the report in Table 1. PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA exceeded their respective CV in at least one private well.

Estimating exposure

The potential for harmful health effects from drinking water with PFAS contamination is evaluated further by estimating the *exposure dose*, or the amount of contaminant that gets into a person's body. The exposure dose is expressed as micrograms of contaminant per kilogram of body weight of the person exposed, per day (μ g/kg/day), and accounts for differing water consumption and different body weights of various age groups in the exposed population.

The exposure dose associated with drinking water with a particular concentration of a PFAS is given by the following equation:

Dose ($\mu g/kg/day$) = PFAS concentration ($\mu g/L$) × consumption (L/day) ÷ body weight (kg)

ATSDR used standard guidance to determine drinking water consumption and body weight used in this equation to estimate exposure doses to various age groups; these assumptions are presented in Table B1 [12,13]. We used the highest concentration of each PFAS in each private well with the assumptions in Table B1 to estimate exposure doses. For example, a child less than one year old with high-end consumption of drinking water containing the highest concentration of PFOA ($1.6 \mu g/L$) every day will receive a PFOA dose of:

PFOA dose = $1.6 \,\mu g/L \times 1.113 \,L/day \div 7.8 \,kg = 0.23 \,\mu g/kg/day$

 Table B 1. Assumed body weights and drinking water consumption for private well users in five towns near the

 Saint-Gobain facility in Merrimack, New Hampshire [9,10]

Group	Body weight in kilograms	High-end (95 th percentile) ingestion of drinking water in liters per day	Typical (average) ingestion of drinking water in liters per day		
Children from birth up to 1 year old	7.8	1.113	0.504		
Children from 1 year old up to age 2	11.4	0.893	0.308		
Children from 2 years old up to age 6	17.4	0.977	0.376		
Children from 6 years old up to age 11	31.8	1.404	0.511		
Children from 11 years old up to age 16	56.8	1.976	0.637		
Children from 16 years old up to age 21	71.6	2.444	0.77		
Adults 21 years old or more	80	3.092	1.227		
Pregnant women	73	2.589	0.872		
Lactating women	73	3.588	1.665		

Evaluating noncancer health effects

The calculated exposure doses are then compared to an appropriate health guideline for that chemical. Health guideline values are considered safe doses; that is, health effects are unlikely below this level. The health guideline value is based on valid toxicological studies for a chemical, with appropriate safety factors built in to account for human variation, animal-to-human differences, and/or the use of the lowest study doses that resulted in harmful health effects (rather than the highest dose that did not result in harmful health effects).

Health guidelines used in this report include ATSDR minimal risk levels (MRLs) for four PFAS (PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA) and state-derived reference doses for two other PFAS (PFBA and PFBS). A description of the derivation of these health guidelines from toxicological studies is presented below.

PFOA

ATSDR derived an intermediate oral MRL of $0.003 \mu g/kg/day$ for PFOA based on a developmental study that observed various endpoints in offspring of pregnant mice fed a diet containing PFOA during pregnancy [7,21]. Physical development of the offspring

was measured at 15 or 17 months by examining body weight and bone structure of sacrificed mice [21]. The study found prenatal exposure to a human equivalent dose as low as $0.82 \mu g/kg/day$ was associated with skeletal changes (altered long bone structure and decreased bone density) when compared with offspring from untreated mice. ATSDR used this dose with uncertainty factors of 10 (for use of a lower effect level), 3 (for extrapolation from animals to humans with dosimetric adjustments), and 10 (for human variability) to derive the intermediate MRL.

PFOS

ATSDR derived an intermediate oral MRL of $0.002 \ \mu g/kg/day$ for PFOS based on a developmental study that examined groups of rats exposed to PFOS by gavage before mating, during gestation, and after giving birth [30,7]. At the lowest effect level (a human equivalent dose of 2.1 $\mu g/kg/day$), offspring of the rats showed delays in eye opening and a transient decrease in body weight. ATSDR used the human equivalent dose at which none of the developmental changes occurred, 0.515 $\mu g/kg/day$, with uncertainty factors of 3 (for extrapolation from animals to humans with dosimetric adjustments) and 10 (for human variability) and a modifying factor of 10 to derive the intermediate MRL.

The modifying factor was included because of concerns that PFOS immunotoxicity may be a more sensitive endpoint than developmental toxicity. Studies on PFOS immune toxicity lacked pharmacokinetic modeling information needed to develop an MRL directly; however, they showed effects on the immune system at serum PFOS concentrations about 10-fold lower than those in the developmental study used as the basis for the MRL.

PFHxS

ATSDR derived an intermediate oral MRL of $0.02 \ \mu g/kg/day$ for PFHxS based on an intermediate-duration study that exposed male and female rats to PFHxS by gavage before, during, and after mating; adult rats and the offspring were examined for numerous development and reproductive endpoints [7,36,37]. No developmental or reproductive effects were reported at any dose tested, but thyroid changes (specifically, follicular cells damage) was observed in adult male rats at a lowest-effect level corresponding to a human equivalent dose of 7.3 μ g/kg/day [7,36,37]. ATSDR used the human equivalent dose at which no harmful changes occurred, 4.7 μ g/kg/day, with uncertainty factors of 3 (for extrapolation from animals to humans with dosimetric adjustments) and 10 (for human variability) and a modifying factor of 10 (for database limitations) to derive the intermediate MRL.

PFNA

ATSDR derived an intermediate oral MRL of $0.003 \mu g/kg/day$ for PFNA based on a developmental study in which pregnant mice were exposed to PFNA by gavage during gestation [39,7]. Offspring showed decreased body weight gain, transient changes in liver weight, and statistically significant delays in postnatal development (eye opening, signs of male and female puberty) at a lowest-effect dose corresponding to a human equivalent dose of 1.7 $\mu g/kg/day$. ATSDR used the human equivalent dose at which none of the developmental changes occurred, 1 $\mu g/kg/day$, with uncertainty factors of 3 (for

extrapolation from animals to humans with dosimetric adjustments) and 10 (for human variability) and a modifying factor of 10 (for database limitations) to derive the intermediate MRL.

PFBA

The state of Minnesota derived an oral chronic reference dose of 2.9 μ g/kg/day based on a study that showed developmental delays and liver, blood, and thyroid changes in offspring of rats fed PFBA at a human equivalent dose of 860 μ g/kg/day [14]. The state applied uncertainty factors of 3 (for interspecies differences), 10 (for intraspecies variability), and 10 (for database uncertainty) to this dose to derive the oral chronic reference dose.

PFBS

The state of Michigan derived a reference dose of $0.23 \ \mu g/kg/day$ based on a different study that showed adverse kidney effects in rats fed PFBS at a human equivalent dose of 225 $\mu g/kg/day$ [15]. The state applied uncertainty factors of 3 (for toxicodynamic differences in rats and humans), 3 (for database gap since no developmental study has been conducted), 10 (human to human variability), and 10 (for less than chronic duration) to this dose to derive the oral chronic reference dose.

If the estimated exposure dose for a chemical is less than the health guideline value, then the exposure is unlikely to cause a noncancer health effect in that specific situation. If the exposure dose for a chemical is greater than the health guideline, then the exposure dose is compared to known toxicological values for that chemical and is discussed in more detail in the evaluation report. These toxicological values are doses derived from human and animal studies summarized in the ATSDR Toxicological Profiles, reports included in EPA's Integrated Risk Information System, and in current scientific literature. A direct comparison of site-specific exposure and doses to study-derived exposures and doses that cause adverse health effects is the basis for deciding whether health effects are likely or not.

For every PFAS with an available health guideline, ATSDR calculated doses for exposure to the highest concentration measured in any private well. The doses for various age groups with highend or typical water consumption, compared against the appropriate health guideline, are presented in Table B2.

Table B 2. Doses for age groups with different water consumption exposed to the highest concentrations measured in private wells compared to
corresponding health guidelines

	Dose for exposure	Dose for exposure	Dose for exposure	Dose for exposure	Dose for exposure	Dose for exposure
	to	to	to	to	to	to
0	1.6 μg/L PFOA,	0.12 μg/L PFOS,	0.24 μg/L PFHxS,	0.085 μg/L PFNA,	0.14 μg/L PFBA,	0.14 μg/L PFBS,
Age group	μg/kg/day	μg/kg/day	μg/kg/day	μg/kg/day	μg/kg/day	μg/kg/day
	(high-end / typical	(high-end / typical	(high-end / typical	(high-end / typical	(high-end / typical	(high-end / typical
	consumption)	consumption)	consumption)	consumption)	consumption)	consumption)
Children birth up to 1 year old	0.2 / 0.1	0.02 / 0.008	0.03 / 0.02	0.01 / 0.005	0.02 / 0.009	0.02 / 0.009
Children 1 year old up to age 2	0.1 / 0.04	0.009 / 0.003	0.02 / 0.006	0.007 / 0.002	0.011 / 0.004	0.011 / 0.004
Children 2 years old up to age 6	0.09 / 0.04	0.007 / 0.003	0.01 / 0.005	0.005 / 0.002	0.008 / 0.003	0.008 / 0.003
Children 6 years old up to age 11	0.07 / 0.03	0.005 / 0.002	0.01 / 0.004	0.004 / 0.001	0.006 / 0.002	0.006 / 0.002
Children 11 years old up to age 16	0.06 / 0.02	0.004 / 0.001	0.008 / 0.003	0.003 / 0.001	0.005 / 0.002	0.005 / 0.002
Children 16 years old up to age 21	0.06 / 0.02	0.004 / 0.001	0.008 / 0.003	0.003 / 0.0009	0.005 / 0.002	0.005 / 0.002
Adults 21 years old or more	0.06 / 0.03	0.005 / 0.002	0.009 / 0.004	0.003 / 0.001	0.005 / 0.002	0.005 / 0.002
Pregnant women	0.06 / 0.02	0.004 / 0.001	0.009 / 0.003	0.003 / 0.001	0.005 / 0.002	0.005 / 0.002
Lactating women	0.08 / 0.04	0.006 / 0.003	0.01 / 0.005	0.004 / 0.002	0.007 / 0.003	0.007 / 0.003
Lowest health guideline in μg/kg/day	0.003	0.002	0.02	0.003	2.9	0.23

 μ g/L = micrograms per liter μ g/kg/day = micrograms per kilogram per day See Appendix A for full compound names and chemical information. Health guideline is the intermediate MRL for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNS; it is the lowest state reference dose for PFBA and PFBS.

Doses are rounded to one significant figure. Doses greater than or equal to the corresponding MRL are shown in **bold** (due to rounding, some unbold values appear equal to the MRL).

We calculated a dose for each PFAS measured, for each separate private well included in the dataset. Because of the large number of private wells (almost 2,750) and to protect personally identifying information, these calculations and individual results are not presented in this report.

The individual PFAS exposure doses estimated using the above process were evaluated by comparing them with effect levels observed in animal toxicological studies on the corresponding PFAS. This evaluation is detailed in the body of the report. In addition, because many wells contained detections of more than one PFAS, we conducted additional evaluation of the potential for mixture effects.

Evaluating PFAS mixtures

Many wells contained detections of multiple PFAS. For mixtures, ATSDR recommends a tiered approach to determine whether further evaluation of mixture effects is necessary [40]. The three tiers as applied in this site-specific evaluation are described below.

Determine which wells could exhibit mixture effects (mixtures framework Tier 1)

In Tier 1, a *hazard quotient* is defined for each contaminant as the estimated dose divided by a noncancer or cancer-based health guideline. For the PFAS assessed in this report, only noncancer health guidelines are available.¹⁵ For each PFAS "*i*", the hazard quotient is given by the following equation:

Hazard Quotient_{PFAS I} = Estimated dose_{PFAS i} (μ g/kg/day) ÷ Health guideline_{PFAS i} (μ g/kg/day),

where the health guideline is the contaminant-specific minimal risk level or reference dose. Mixtures containing more than one component with a hazard quotient greater than 0.1 are carried forward for Tier 2 analysis.

Table B3 summarizes the Tier 1 analysis for the private wells near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack facility. For each PFAS, the table lists the highest estimated dose (the dose to children from birth to one year old drinking high-end amounts of water every day from the private well with the highest concentration of the contaminant measured), health guideline, highest estimated hazard quotient, number of wells with a hazard quotient greater than 0.1 for that PFAS, number of those wells that had a second PFAS component with a hazard quotient greater than 0.1, and whether the PFAS should be included in additional, Tier 2 analysis. Due to a lack of health guideline values, we could not calculate hazard quotients for all PFAS.

For the private wells evaluated in this report, PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA all had hazard quotients greater than 0.1 in some wells. PFBA and PFBS had hazard quotients lower than 0.1 in all wells and are not carried forward to Tier 2. This Tier 1 analysis identified four PFAS in 284 private wells to be included in the Tier 2 analysis.¹⁶

¹⁵ Intermediate MRLs based on noncancer effects are available for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, and PFNA. State reference doses based on noncancer effects are available for PFBA and PFBS. No official cancer slope factor for PFOA or any other PFAS exists at the time of this report. Potential cancer effects for PFOA are discussed later in this report based on a provisional oral cancer slope factor available now.

¹⁶ Of the 1,099 wells not included in further mixtures analysis, we note that 484 of them included detections of other PFAS for which no health guidelines exist. ATSDR cannot evaluate the potential mixture effects of these other PFAS.

PFAS	Highest estimated dose in µg/kg/day*	PFAS-specific health guideline in μg/kg/day**	Health guideline source	Corresponding highest hazard quotient (HQ)	# of wells with HQ ≥0.1‡	# of those wells at least one other PFAS with HQ ≥0.1‡	Include PFAS in Tier 2 mixtures evaluation?
PFOA	0.23	0.003	ATSDR MRL	76	2,362	1,101	Yes
PFOS	0.017	0.002	ATSDR MRL	9	1,097	1,088	Yes
PFHxS	0.034	0.02	ATSDR MRL	2	34	33	Yes
PFNA	0.012	0.003	ATSDR MRL	4	24	24	Yes
PFBA	0.02	2.9	Minnesota chronic RfD	0.007	0	Not applicable	No
PFBS	0.02	0.23	Michigan RfD	0.09	0	Not applicable	No

Table B 3. Tier 1 mixtures analysis summary for private wells near the Saint-Gobain Merrimack, New Hampshire
facility

MRL = intermediate minimal risk level RfD = reference dose

*Highest dose represents a small child with high-end water consumption drinking water with the highest concentration of each PFAS measured in any well.

**No health guidelines were available for other PFAS listed in Table 1. These substances were not included in any further mixtures analysis.

‡Numbers of wells are not additive, since some wells contained multiple PFAS.

Determine hazard index for wells with mixtures (Mixtures framework Tier 2)

For the PFAS and wells carried forward to Tier 2, the next step is to calculate a *hazard index* for each well's PFAS mixture and preliminarily evaluate the potential for noncancer effects from the mixture.

The hazard index, which assumes dose additivity, is the sum of the respective hazard quotients for the well, given in this case as:

Hazard Index = Hazard quotient $(HQ)_{PFOA} + HQ_{PFOS} + HQ_{PFHxS} + HQ_{PFNA}$

where the subscripts indicate which PFAS the hazard quotient is calculated for. <u>Mixtures with a hazard index greater than 1 are carried forward to Tier 3 analysis.</u>

Figure B1 illustrates Tier 1 and Tier 2 mixtures analysis using selected de-identified private well results from this site. ATSDR evaluated 284 of the private wells using hazard indices described in Tier 2. Of these well, 206 had a hazard index greater than 1 and were included in Tier 3's further evaluation.

		Concer	tration, I (ug	microgran :/L)	n per L		Dose for a	a 0-1 year ug		Hazaro ye	d Quotier ar old wi consun	nt (based th high-e nption)	on 0-1 nd		Hazard Index						
Well Index #		PFOA	PFOS	PFHXS	PFNA		PFOA	PFOS	Tier 1 SXHJ	PFNA	Combined Dose		PFOA	PFOS	PFHXS	PFNA	+-to be evaluated for mixture effects	Hazard Index - Sum of HQs for PFOA, PFOS, PFHxS, PFNA		Tier 2	
WELLS ANALYZED FOR MIXTURES EFFECTS (MORE THAN ONE HQ GREATER THAN OR EQUAL TO 0.1)																					
1		1.6	0	0.021	0		2E-01	0E+00	3E-03	0E+00	2.E-01		76.10	0.00	0.15	0.00	+	76.3	Hazard i	ndex greate	r than
18		0.29	0	0.092	0		4E-02	0E+00	1E-02	0E+00	5.E-02		13.79	0.00	0.66	0.00	+	14.4	or equal	to 1> do	Fier 3
20		0.27	0.076	0.072	0		4E-02	1E-02	1E-02	0E+00	6.E-02		12.84	5.42	0.51	0.00	+	18.8	mixture	analysis	
66		0.13	0.0034	0.0088	0		2E-02	5E-04	1E-03	0E+00	2.E-02		6.18	0.24	0.06	0.00	+	6.5	/		
67		0.13	0	0.016	0		2E-02	0E+00	2E-03	0E+00	2.E-02		6.18	0.00	0.11	0.00	+	6.3			
75		0.124	0.01	0.004	0		2E-02	1E-03	6E-04	0E+00	2.E-02		5.90	0.71	0.03	0.00	+	6.6 🖌			
126		0.096	0.007	0.004	0.002		1E-02	1E-03	6E-04	3E-04	2.E-02		4.57	0.50	0.03	0.10	+	5.2			
131		0.095	0.019	0.0043	0.012		1E-02	3F-03	6F-04	2F-03	2.E-02	/	4.52	1.36	0.03	0.57	+	6.5			
1009		0.0178	0.0029	0.0014	0		3E-03	More th	an one H(Q greater	.E-03		0.85	0.21	0.01	0.00	+	1.1			
1024		0.017	0.0093	0.0026	0		2E-03	than or e	equal to O).1> do	.E-03		0.81	0.66	0.02	0.00	+	1.5			
1062		0.017	0.0016	0.0035	0		2E-03	Tier 2 m	ixture ana	alysis	.E-03		0.81	0.11	0.02	0.00	+	0.95			
1073		0.0169	0.0066	0.004	0		2E-03				.E-03		0.80	0.47	0.03	0.00	+	1.3			
1075		0.0168	0.0024	0	0		2E-03	3E-04	0E+00	0E+00	3.E-03		0.80	0.17	0.00	0.00	+	0.97			
1528		0.0108	0.0087	0.0021	0		2E-03	1E-03	3E-04	0E+00	3.E-03		0.51	0.62	0.01	0.00	+	1.2			
2016		0.0056	0.0021	0.0016	0		8E-04	3E-04	2E-04	0E+00	1.E-03		0.27	0.15	0.01	0.00	+	0.4			
2025		0.0055	0.012	0	0		8E-04	2E-03	0E+00	0E+00	2.E-03		0.26	0.86	0.00	0.00	+	1.1			
2347		0.0023	0.0029	0.0025	0		3E-04	4E-04	4E-04	0E+00	1.E-03		0.11	0.21	0.02	0.00	+	0.3			
WELL	S NOT A	NALYZED	FOR MIX	TURES EF	FECTS (O	NLY C	ONE HQ GRE	ATER THAI	N OR EQU	JAL TO 0.	1)										
2		1.5	0	0.0072	0		2E-01	0E+00	1E-03	0E+00	2.E-01		71.35	0.00	0.05	0.00					
184		0.075	0	0	0		1E-02	0E+00	0F+00	0F+00	1 F-02		3.57	0.00	0.00	0.00					
223		0.064	0	0	0		9E-03	OE Onl	<mark>y one or f</mark>	ewer HQ			3.04	0.00	0.00	0.00					
228		0.062	0	0	0		9E-03	OE grea	ater than	or equal	to 0.1		2.95	0.00	0.00	0.00					
2677		0	0.0061	0	0		0E+00	9E>I	mixture e	ffects un	likely		0.00	0.44	0.00	0.00					
2613		0	0.0042	0.0027	0		0E+00	6E		02.00			0.00	0.30	0.02	0.00					
2649		0	0	0.0257	0		0E+00	0E+00	4E-03	0E+00	4.E-03		0.00	0.00	0.18	0.00					
2499		0	0	0.0003	0		0E+00	0E+00	5E-05	0E+00	5.E-05		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					
2500		0	0	0	0		0E+00	0E+00	0E+00	0E+00	0.E+00		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					

Figure B 1. Selected data from private wells from New Hampshire database, illustrating Tier 1 and Tier 2 mixtures evaluation

Refined evaluation of potential effects considering target organs and other factors (Mixtures framework Tier 3)

Tier 3 analysis is a detailed analysis of potential mixture effects, considering, for example, target toxicities of each mixture component, sensitive subpopulations, or more refined estimates of potential exposure to the mixture. The text of this report describes that the PFAS in these mixtures may target similar organ systems and may all potentially contribute to development, immune, or liver effects. For further evaluation, ATSDR used the combined dose of all four PFAS included in the mixtures evaluation to determine the potential for harmful health effects. Because PFOA is the main contaminant at this site, we relied primarily on toxicological information for PFOA to determine whether effects from the mixtures were likely.

Evaluating cancer health effects

In general, the estimated added lifetime risk of developing cancer from an oral exposure to a carcinogenic contaminant is calculated by multiplying the site-specific estimated exposure dose, averaged over a lifetime, by an appropriate cancer slope factor. ATSDR uses this quantitative risk estimate as part of a weight-of-evidence approach to decide whether exposures to cancer-causing contaminants are of concern. ATSDR describes estimated increased cancer risk qualitatively and in terms of background rates of cancer occurring in the U.S. population.

At this time, there are no appropriate cancer slope factors for any PFAS to allow a quantitative estimate of increased cancer risk from exposure to PFAS. ATSDR has discussed cancer risk associated with PFAS qualitatively in the body of the report, beginning on page 24.